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INTRODUCTORY NOTE.

THE present volume is one of a series of selections from
the Punjab Government records which have been published
by the Punjab Government. The volumes constituting the
series are—

The Delhi Residency and
Agency Records ... 1807-185%, Volume I.

The Ludhiana Agency Records, 1808-1815, Volume II.

The Political Diaries of the
Resident at Lahore and his

i Assistants ... 1846-1849,  Volumes
' IIT—VI.
The Mutiny Records—Corres-
pondence and Reports ... 18567-1858,  Volumes
VII and VIII each
in two Parts.

It had been intended to issue further volumes also, dealing
with (a) the records of the Karnal, Ambala and Ludhiana
Agencies (including the despatches of Sir D. Ochterlony,
Superintendent of Political Affairs and Agent to the Gover-
nor-General at Ludhiana, and the diaries of his Assistant,
Captain G. Birch), 1816—1840 ; (b) the records of the North-
West Frontier Agency, 1840—1845, and (¢) those of the
Lahore Residency, 1846—1849 ; but it has been found neces-
sary on financial grounds to postpone the publication of
these further papers.

The material for the volumes issued has been prepared
and put through the Press by Mr. A. Raynor, late Registrar
of the Punjab Civil Secretariat.

LAHORE :
December 1915.
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CHAPTER V.

—————
REPORTS ON EVENTS IN THE MULTAN DIVISION.
—_—

48. I'rom Major Q. W. Haxirron, Commissioner and Superin-
tendent, Mooltan Division, to R. Mo~xrcoxerr, Esquire,
Judicial Commissioner for the Punjab, Lahore,—No. 42,
dated Mooltan, the 24th February 1858.

As required by your Circular No. 5 of the 16th ultimo, I
have the honor to transmit narratives of a portion of the
occurrences in this division during the mutinies. The remain-
ing narrative will shortly follow.

NARRATIVE.

Tre first intelligence of the outbreak at Meerut and
Delhi was received by Major G. W. Hamilton, Commissioner
and Superintendent of the Mooltan Division, at Mooltan, on
the evening of the 13th of May 1857, in a note from R.
Montgomery, Esquire, C. 8., Judicial Commissioner.

2. Reference to the Map of India will at once place the
reader in possession of the geographical position of Mooltan.
As a military post it could not be overestimated. The fort
contained munitions of war to the value of 15 lacs of rupees;
its maintenance was vitally necessary, not only to keep open
the river communication—the only means of obtaining re-
inforcements from Bembay—but to check the more than
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doubtful Mahomedan ally of Bahawalpoor, holding a large
tract of country on the left banks of the Indus and Sutlej,
ever ready in the event of any further disaster to intrigue
with our troops, invade the British territories and by his
presence stimulate the people to rebellion and lay siege to the
fort. It will thus be scen that its safety was of the deepest
importance and extremely critical.

8. At that time the troops consisted of—

European Company of Artillery,
4th Troop, 3rd Brigade of Horse Artillery (Native),
62nd Regiment, Native Infantry,
69th Regiment, Native Infantry,

1st Irregular Cavalry,

exclusive of the head-quarters of the 3rd Katar Mookhi Police
Battalion, 250 strong, and of a troop of mounted police
amounting to 100 sabres.

4. Although no open symptoms of insubordination had
been made manifest, there was great reason for suspecting the
fidelity of the Native troops.

The cartridge question had certainly been discussed in
the regiments of Native Infantry, and it was the current
belief in the city and bazars that any attempt made to force
the objectionable ammunition on the troops would cause an
explosion,

5. Many instances of growing disaffection could be
adduced, but one or two will fully exemplify—

1st—A sepoy rushed into the Assistant Commissioner’s
Kutchery two hours before the arrival of the
post conveying the Calcuita (Fazette announcing
the disbanding of the 34th Regiment, Native
Infantry, and asked “what is the news.”” Re-
ceiving in reply that the post had not arrived,
he left with an incredulous smile, implying
knowledge of more than inclined to disclose.
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21nd—The sepoys daily surrounded the post office
asking unusual and inquisitive questions to the
bodily fear and alarm of the whole establish-
ment.

3rd—Family remittances invariably made through
Government, but lately through native agency,
were re-demanded in cash payment.

4th—The price and purchase of gold mohurs increased
hourly, warranting the anxiety to rid them-
selves of cumbersome silver. !

6. The intelligence received from Lahore was at once
communicated by the Commissioner to Lieutenant-Colonel
Hicks, Commanding the Station, and that officer immediately
entered into communication with Major Chamberlain and
his Brigade Staff. Colonel Hicks was not of opinion that
there was any cause to suspect the Native Infantry, but on
the representations made to him, particularly by Major
Chamberlain, he willingly agreed that it was advisable to take
all necessary precautions in case of an outbreak. It was the
opinion of Major Chamberlain that the regiment under his
command would remain faithful from the fact of his senior
Resaldar and the Woordee-Major having reported to him that
men of the Native Infantry Corps had been amongst his own,
urging them to join the common cause, which they declined
to do, and that whilst little confidence could be placed in the
loyalty of the Native Infantry, particularly in respect to the
69th, there was every hope that the Native Horse Artillery
would adhere to its allegiance.

Both the Commissioner and Captain Tronson, Captain of
Police, were fully confident that the utmost trust could be

Opinions of
Commanding
Officers as to
the feelings of
their corps,

placed in the Katar Mookhi Police Battalion and in the -

Mounted Police.

7. The head-quarters of the Battalion being located in
the fort, which contained the magazine and heavy ordnance,
Colonel Hicks, at the request of the Commissioner, made over

1 NoTg.—For the benefit of our English readers it is important to state
that the middle and lower classes carry their coin round the waist, either
in a leathern girdle or a purse of fine cord,
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charge of the place to him, who in conjunction with Captains
Tronson and Spencer (Commissary of Ordnance) immediately
made arrangements for providing for its defence and for
rendering it a place of refuge in the event of an outbreak.
Although the ramparts bad been demolished, it still consisted
of an enclosure capable of some slight defence. All the
available detachments of the Police Battalion were recalled
to head-quarters and a contingent guard of extra police was
substituted at the jail for that furnished by the Police Battal-
ion. By these means the garrison was slightly increased, and
the outposts of the Mounted Police being recalled, that force
was increased by 120 sabres.

Captain Spencer undertook to improve the defences of the
fort, and in a short time had several pieces of ordnance mount-
ed in commanding positions. He also organized a battery of
two field pieces manned by the Europeans of the magazine
establishment assisted by trustworthy natives. In the course
of a few days these arrangements had so far advanced that
there was every hope the fort would afford an adequate protec-
tion to the European establishments and troops in the event
of an outbreak. Provisions were also laid in for six months’
consumption, and in the meantime Majors Hamilton and
Voyle (Deputy Commissioner) had taken every precaution.

At the request of the Commissioner, Lieut. Etheridge,
I. N., detained the stcamer which was then at the ghaut for
a few days, until the arrangements regarding the fort were
completed, in case its scrvices should be required. These
arrangements had been effected prior to the receipt of the
instructions of the Chief and Judicial Commissioners of
nearly the same purport. The Editor of the native newspaper
published at Mooltan had also been instructed by the Com-
missioner to submit his paper for inspection prior to its
publication, and to this order the Editor gave a ready com-
pliance,

8. The whole of the native correspondence was stopped
and examined. Only one or two letters of importance were
discovered, one leading to the exccution of the author. Most
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of the ferries were closed, and those which remained open
were carefully guarded. All fakeers, foreigners and suspected
persons were arrested, and every possible measure taken to
prevent news from other parts of the country reaching the
Native troops. The guards of extra police on the city were
strengthened and furnished with arms and ammunition, and
frequent patrols were sent between the city and cantonments,
Police Cavalry being placed upon the bridges leading there-
from, to convey the first symptoms of an outbreak. The
officers in commaund of the frontier posts of Derah Ghazee
Khan and Asnee were informed of the occurrences at Mooltan
and requested to hold their available force in readiness. These
requisitions were immediately attended to; but, as Colonel
Hicks objected to calling in the aid of these troops, they
were not moved to Mooltan until the special order of the
Punjab Government to that effect was received.

Captain T. W. Hughes, Commanding the 1st Punjab
Cavalry, marched upon his own responsibility immediately
upon hearing of the outbreak, feeling that his regiment would
in all probability be required either at Mooltan or elsewhere.
The services subsequently performed by this gallant officer
and his noble regiment are matter of history.

On the 9th June the following frontier troops had
reached Mooltan :—

1st Regiment, Punjab Cavalry ;
Wing, 2nd Regiment, Punjab Infantry.

These were placed under the orders of Major Hamilton and
located in the “ Am Khas’’ near the fort and about 3} miles
from cantonments, the object being to keep them perfectly
separate from the disaffected regiments.

Intelligence of the despatch of the left wing of the 1st
Bombay Fusiliers from Sind for Mooltan had been received
some days before this, but the time of its arrival was very
uncertain. For this addition to the European force suitable
arrangements were made in cantonments by converting the
gunsheds, native hospitals and other buildings into barracks ;
two temporary barracks were also commenced,
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At that time the treasure had been removed into the fort,
leaving, however, the guard of Native Infantry at the empty
treasury, whilst the magazine guard of Native Infantry in the
fort had been relieved by another furnished by the Police
Battalion.

9. The disaffection of the 69th Regiment, Native In-
fantry, now no longer admitting of a doubt, and hourly
reports being made of an intended outbreak, a squadron of the
1st Punjab Cavalry under the personal command of Captain
Hughes was moved on the afternoon of that date into the
lines of the 1lst Irregular Cavalry to strengthen them, 200
men of that corps being absent at their homes on furlough.
About 9 p. M. of the same evening orders were received from
the Punjab Government, addressed to the Commissioner and
Major Chamberlain, for the immediate disarming of the
Native Infantry Regiments and entrusting the exccution of
the order to the latter officer. The same nizht arrangements
were made for carrying the order into effect, but no com-
munication was made to the residents of cantonments until
next morning.

The necessity of disarming the Native Infantry had
from the commencement been apparent, and its exccution had
been delayed only from the want of means to overawe that
force. On the arrival of a portion of the Punjab regiments
arrangements had been made by the Commissioner, Major
Chamberlain, and the officers in command of the Punjab regi-
ments and Police, for the advance of the force from the
fort and civil lines on cantonments for the purpose of disarm-
ing the disaffected troops or suppressing any outbreak. On
the arrival of the order for disarming the troops it only
remained to carry into effect the preconcerted plan.

At gun-fire of the 10th June Colonel Hicks was furnished
with the orders of the Punjab Government and requested
to direct a parade of the whole of the troops in garrison.
This was accordingly done, and in accordance with arrange-
ments decided upon the night before, the Punjab Cavalry and
Infantry marched down to cantonments by two separate
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roads. The Cavalry by the road to the right debouching on
the grand parade was to cut off fugitives should the troops
about to be disarmed have dispersed before the whole force had
assembled, whilst the Infantry moved direct on to the parade
from the city and was concealed until it made its appearance
from the rear of the Irregular Cavalry lines. The troops
arrived at their destinations most opportunely and took up
their positions at the proper moment in the order as shewn
in the annexed plan.! The Horse Artillery masked by a
portion of the lst Punjab; Cavalry and supported by the
European Company of Artillery, the Punjab Infantry being
on their left flank. The 62nd Regiment, Native Infantry, in
} distance column, originally occupied the ground to the left
of the 1st Irregular Cavalry, but were afterwards advanced
to the front, the Punjab Cavalry taking their place. At
the same time the 69th Regiment, Native Infantry, also in }
distance column, were marched from their own parade to
the grand parade and halted in contiguous close columns with
the 62nd in front of the masked battery. The whole of
these movements were executed without the slightest confu-
gion or hesitation.

A general order was then read to the two corps of Native
Infantry, and they were afterwards addressed in a few words
by Major Chamberlain, who informed them that the orders of
Government had been received for their disarming and that it
was absolutely necessary their arms should be surrendered at
once; that if they obeyed the order quietly no harm would
befall them, but if the slightest hesitation was shewn he was
prepared to enforce the order at all risks. At this moment
by a preconcerted signal the lst Punjab Cavalry by a flank
moved to the left, unmasked the Horse Artillery of six field
pieces, loaded with grape and port-fires lighted.

The battery was manned by natives, but each piece was
supported by 8 European Artillerymen with loaded fusils.
It was afterwards found that the guns had been laid by
the native troopers directly on the 69th Regiment, Native

1 Not traceable in the Secretariat records.
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Infantry, thus evincing their sentiments with regard to the
men of this corps.

The 62nd Regiment, Native Infantry, piled their arms
without delay, some of the men exclaiming that the Govern-
ment which had given the arms bad a right to demand them,
but some slight hesitation was observed amongst the men of
the 69th Regiment, Native Infantry.

The disarmed columns were then moved to the right and
left and Cavalry interposed between the piles of arms and each
column. The men were then ordered to take off their
accoutrements. Their lines and bells of arms were searched
and all arms found in them taken away. All the station
and regimental guards were relieved by parties of disarmed
men and the arms of the guards piled with those of regiments.
Strong guards of the lst Irregular Cavalry were put over
the regimental expense magazine store rooms, and by 11
o’clock the whole of the arms had been despatched to the fort
and the parade dismissed. The removal of the ammunition
occupied until early the following morning.

Thus happily terminated without bloodshed a matter
of great moment when the abscnce of European agency is
considered.

The demand for every European and frontier native
soldier to reinforce the army before Delhi utterly precluded
the possibility of European aid from  Lahore, distant 206
miles. The reduction of the steamers on the Indus conse-
quent upon the Persian War left but slicht means at the
disposal of the Scinde Government for the transport of
European troops, which had been urgently called for, the first
detachment of the 1st Bombay Fusiliers being at this time
not nearer than Sukkur, distant 500 miles.

10. Simultaneously with the disarming of the troops in
cantonments a strong guard of the 69th Regiment, Native
Infantry, at the local treasury in the Edgah was disarmed by
a party of the Katar Mookhi Battalion and Mounted Police
under Captain Tronson, who effected this important measure
with the same success.
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11. It would not be proper to omit to notice the effect
which was produced on the inhabitants of the city by the
disarming of the troops of the line. Previous to this opera-
tion great alarm had prevailed amongst the citizens : most of
them had buried their wealth, and many had left the town

- or sent away their families; but no sooner had the troops
been disarmed than the principal inhabitants waited on the
Commissioner, congratulated him upon the result and expressed
their gratification at the removal of their apprehension.
In a short time the whole of the people who had left returned
to the city.

12. The only inhabitants of rank at Mooltan are the
descendants of the Mahomedan saints, who are also the
guardians of the numerous shrines and places of pilgrimage
which abound in the district, and a few remains of the
old Pathan nobility. The former have much influence with
the community, and it was a fortunate circumstance that
at this crisis they, with one exception, stood faithful to the
British Government and in general were anxious to evince
their loyalty by every means in their power.

The most conspicuous amongst these was Makhdoom,
Shah Mahmood, Kooreshee, within the enceinte of the fort.
The Pathan Chiefs had rendered eminent service during the
last Punjab War, and on the present occasion they also
shewed their readiness to come forward in aid of the State,
but they had little influence in the country.

13. By order of the Punjab Government Gholam Moos-
tapha Khan, Khagwanee, organized a resallah of Irregular
Cavalry, with which he afterwards did good service under
General Cortlandt.

14. The only classes from whom much danger was to
be apprehended were the predatory clans inhabiting the Bar
or central tracts of the peninsulas between the rivers. From
time immemorial these clans had been addicted to robbery
and cattle-lifting, and under former Governments had repeat-
edly broken out in insurrection. Since the establishment
of the British rule their predatory habits had been suppressed,

2
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but it was still to be feared they might take advantage
of any disturbance to return to their old occupation. The
chiefs of these clans in the Mooltan district were summoned
to the Commissioner and detained until all doubt of their
honest intentions was removed. They endeavoured to evince
their good wishes by furnishing some horses for the
Irregular Cavalry raised in the district.

15. The other districts comprised in the Mooltan division
are Googaira and Jhung. The former is wild, partly agri-
cultural, but more distinguished as a pastoral tract, producing
large herds of camels, cattle, sheep, goats and a few horses
of a good breed. The inhabitants of the pastoral tracts are
chiefly herdsmen, associated in clans under influential chiefs,
and are similar in habits and character to the predatory tribes
of the Mooltan district.

16. The station of Googaira is situated near the Ravee,
about 130 miles from Mooltan and 75 from Lahore. The
station was occupied at the commencement of the outbreak
by a company of the 49th Regiment, Native Infantry, under
a Native Officer, employed in guarding the treasury, aided
by 80 of the “Kuttar Mookhee’’ Battalion and a portion
of a resallah of Mounted Police. Shortly after the in-
telligence of the outbreak of Meerut and Delhi, Lieutenant
Elphinstone, the Officiating Deputy Commissioner, acting
with very great promptitude and energy, by aid of the
Police disarmed the company of Native Infantry without
any opposition and replaced them by the same. On the
spread of the insurrection to Sirsa in the beginning of June
Lieutenant Elphinstone immediately detached as many as
could be spared of the Police Battalion, together with a troop
of Mounted Police completed to full strength, as also a
body of the district police, to the aid of the force moving
from Ferozepore under General Cortlandt to oppose the
insurgents. This detail of Police rendered most eminent
service in the Military operations which ensued.

17. On the 26th July a most daring attempt was made
by the prisoners in the Googaira Jail to effect their escape
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during the night. Several of them succeeded in getting over
the outer wall and about 20 fled into the jungle. The out-
break was suppressed by the energy of Lieutenant Elphinstone
and Mr. Berkely aided by the effective assistance of the jail
guard furnished by the Police, but about 40 of the prisoners
were killed and wounded.

18. Under instructions from the Chief Commissioner, a
Resallah of Irregular Cavalry was raised at Googaira by
Lieutenant Elphinstone, and on being completed was sent out
of the district for general service. A resallah of Belooch
Horse, which had been pushed on before, was found wanting in
discipline, and consequently sent back across the Indus to be
disbanded. Half a resallah, newly raised in the Jhang
district, was then substituted for the performance of their
duties, and a considerable body of the district Police was
further taken for service in the North-Western Provinces.

By order of the Punjab Government a levy was also
raised at Googaira for recruits for the new Punjab regi-
ments.

19. The station of Jhung is about 100 miles from
Mooltan. In the district there are some powerful pastoral
clans formerly much addicted to robbery, but since the
establishment of the British Government they have in a great
measure reformed. '

Ismail Khan, chief of the Syals, has a pension and holds
the command of a troop of Police Horse. The Chief of the
Bhutwannahs, the most powerful clan of the Syal tribe, had
faithfully adhered to the British during the last war, and
from their character no apprehension was entertained that
they would swerve from their allegiance. Subsequent events
fully proved the correctness of this opinion.

The troops at Jhung consisted of a company of the 16th
Regiment, Native Infantry, furnishing a guard to the
treasury, a company of the Kuttar Mookhee Police Battalion
employed in guarding the jail and other civil duties, and a
troop of Mounted Police,
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In this district the necessary precautions were taken by
Lieutenant Hawes, Officiating Deputy Commissioner, to guard
the ferries and apprchend suspected characters. The com-
pany of Native Infantry was not disarmed, but in June was
relieved and marched to Lahore, their ammunition being kept
at Jhang. A troop of Mounted Police was raised from the
yeomanry of the district. On the mutiny of the 14th
Regiment, Native Infantry, at Jhelum in July a party of
the mutineers, consisting of a Soobadar and 8 sepoys, seized
possession of an officer’s pleasure-boat and dropped down the
Jhelum River. They were, however, arrested by the river
police near Kadirpoor, brought into Jhang, tried, convicted
and executed.

20. On the evening of the day of the disarming three or
four sepoys of the 69th Regiment, Native Infantry, deserted ;
one was caucht, brought to trial before a Court-martial and
condemned to death.! Sundry disclosures, however, made by
him to Major Chamberlain the night before obtained him a
reprieve, but the execution parade was to allow some arrests to
be made from among the mutineers,

On this occasion Nahur Khan, Soobadar-Major of the
69th Regiment, Native Infantry, and some others of that
regiment were arrested and at once confined in separate
guards.? Most of them subsequently were released from the
want of thoroughly convincing evidence against them, but the
enquiries instituted in their cases produced evidence which led
to the conviction of the leading mutineers,

21. On the 14th June the 1st Regiment of Punjab
Cavalry marched towards Ferozepore,and on the same morning
three companies of the 2nd Punjab Infantry arrived from
Derah Ghazee Khan,

! NoTE.—A man of the 2nd Punjab Infantry was tried at the same time
and another of that regiment liad been previously condemned to imprisonment
by the Commissioner for seditious language.

* NoTe.—Nahur Khan was sent to the fort. A horse was provided for
him from the 1st Regiment, Irregular Cavalry, but he had scarcely mounted
when it reared and fell on him,—an omen which the natives present were not
slow to interpret as a warning of his fate.
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On the 19th, 20th and 21st idem the left wing of the 1st
Bombay Fusiliers arrived from Sind on steamers, disem-
barked and marched into cantonments, where ample provision
had been made for their accommodation through the exertions
of the Executive Officer, Captain Rose, in a position which
enabled the European troops to protect the guns. Previous
to this the barracks had been held by a detail of the 2nd
Punjab Infantry, the guns having been removed from the
charge of the Native Horse Artillery and placed under care
of the European detail, who were also employed in manning
a light field battery drawn by bullocks.

22. In accordance with instructions received from Lahore
the wing of the 1st Bombay Fusiliers was immediately
despatched to Lahore. The heat at that time was excessive,
and from its effects and the previous exposure to which the
men had been subject during their voyage up the river they
suffered severely, losing eight men at the first stage, but
during the remainder of the march there was no further
mortality.

23. Mooltan was thus again doomed to an outbreak
before it could be secured by the arrival of the right wing of
the Fusiliers. The risk was great, but the demands for
additional troops to oppose the mutineers at Delhi were most
urgent, and the success which had hitherto attended the
conduct of affairs at Mooltan fully justified the authorities in
endeavouring to maintain their position, however precarious
it might be, without the aid of a competent European force.

24. On the Sth of July the right wing of the 1st Belooch
Battalion under Lieutenant-Colonel Farquhar arrived by water
from Sind and on the 10th idem the 2nd Punjab Infantry
marched for Ferozepore. On the same date 100 men of the
3rd Police Battalion and 110 sowars of Ghoolam Moostapha
Khan’s resallah, which had been recently raised in the district,
left for Sirsa.

On the same date and a few following days the principal

portion of the right wing of the 1st Bombay Fusiliers under
Major Hogge arrived by steamers from Sind, and the left
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wing of the 1st Belooch Battalion followed after a short in-
terval.

25. To prevent any chance of arms being concealed, a
rigid search was made for them everywhere. All employés
of Government in the Civil Department and their servants
had been previously restricted in carrying arms, and the same
order was now extended to cantonments and its bazars, whence
a considerable supply was procured. These arms were found
of great use in arming the extra police levies and newly
raised resallahs. Restrictions were also placed on the sale
of gun powder and percussion caps by shopkeepers.

26. About this time Major Voyle and Major Chamberlain
were in almost daily communication touching the meetings
held at the Shewallah, and it was whilst in consultation upon
the subject that some discharged men of the 69th were
brought up for transportation beyond the Sutlej. It is an odd
circumstance, but nevertheless a fact, that the Native Officers
of the 69th by false representations secured the discharge as
badmashes of some men whose greatest crime appeared to be a
disinclination to be mixed up in the feeling of mutiny extant
in the corps.

It was an individual of the above description who
unhesitatingly stated he was only one of several who would
be ejected, and, as the remark was too good to be lost, his
evidence was at once committed to paper.

Names were divulged as also intentions, and it was loudly
asserted that but for the sudden disarming the smothered
desire to mutiny would have burst forth in all its fury. It
appears that arrangements had been made for the fulfilment
of plans and that possibly attempts would still be made to
cause bloodshed.

In further view to preserving secrecy, the Native Officers
of the 69th had begged their Commanding Officer not to allow
the men to leave their lines. Outsiders were also forbidden,
so that it was a matter of difficulty to have any communica-
tion with them at all.
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The difficulty now existing was to secure trustworthy
evidence.

Various methods were put into play. One was to send
men of the 1st Irregular Cavalry disguised as fakeers into the
lines of both regiments, but especially of the 69th, to converse
with men who were named as being able to disclose; and the
other was to secure the co-operation of a Native Officer.
Happily both were successful.

The men to whom the first task was assigned had todeny
themselves repeatedly, and on more than one occasion found
their legs more useful than argument.

The other was arranged upon a suggestion of Major
Chamberlain by his excellent and energetic Woordee-Major
Burkut Allee, who entered heart and soul into the task upon
which his Commandant’s energies were bestowed.

Another Native Officer of the same regiment, Naib-Resal-
dar Shydad Khan, also did very excellent service in the cause,
and by the middle of July the chain was sufficiently complete
for investigation by a General European Court-martial of
five Officers, at which Major Chamberlain was Government
prosecutor.

27. On Monday, 20th July, Nahur Khan, Soobadar-
Major, was arraigned on the following charges and found
guilty :—

Charges.

Soobadar-Major Nahur Khan, of the 89th Regiment,
Native Infantry, placed in confinement by order of Lieutenant-
Colonel Hicks, Commanding at Mooltan, and charged with
sedition and exciting mutiny in the following instances : —

First snstance.—In having at Mooltan at evening roll-
call, on or about the 7th June 1857, said to the
men of (his) the Grenadier Company, 69th
Regiment, Native Infantry: “ Whatever orders
you receive from Government obey, but if you
keep your hands and feet strong you can get
service wherever you go, or words to that effect,
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thereby conveying to the minds of the men he
addressed that they should not allow themselves
to be disarmed.

Second snstance—~In having at the same place, on or
about the 11th June 1857, falsely stated that
the 69th Regiment, Native Infantry, would be
destroyed next morning, or words to that effect,

thereby creating a feeling of despondency and
alarm.

Third tnstance.~In having at the same place during
the months of April and May 1857 come to the
knowledge of a certain feeling of dissatisfaction
in his regiment on the subject of cartridges,
which he failed to report to his Commanding
Officer.

The above being in breach of the Articles of War.

For submission to an European General Court-martial
under the provisions of Act 8 of 1857 by order of Lieutenant-
Colonel Hicks, Commanding at Mooltan.

MoorTan: W. GORDON, CarraIy,
18tk July 1858. Major of Brigade.

Soon after dawn of the 24th July this arch-traitor and
leader of the mutiny suffered the sentence passed upon him,
and just as the execution was over two companies of the Fusil-
iers marched into cantonments under Lieutenant Mainwaring.

28. The trials of the other men of the 69th were con-
tinued on the 29th July on the following charge. The whole
were found guilty and condemned to death :—

Charge.

No. 418 Naick Lutchman Tewary ;
» 332 Sepoy Sewsahay Sing ;
» 565 » Ramdoolleh Sing;
»» 1001 ,,  Seetaram Sing;
» 901 »” Mahiram Dooby ;
” 1254 » Thakoor Pandy ;
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No. 1643 Sepoy Prang Sing ;

» 870 ,,  Adjoodiah Anusty ;
,» 1624 ,,  Meer Sobhan Ullee ;
» 1577 ., Lutchmun Sing ;

all of the 1st Company, 69th Regiment, Native Infantry,
confined by order of Lieutenant-Colonel Hicks on the
following charge : —

For muteny.—In having at Mooltan on or about the 7th
day of June 1857 conspired to seize their arms from
the kofe or bells of arms of their company.

For submission to an European General Court Martial
under the provisions of Act 8 of 1857 by order of Lieutenant-
Colonel Hicks, Commanding at Mooltan,

MoorTaN: W. GORDON, Carraly,
18tk July 1857. Major of Brigade.

29. It is worthy of remark that on the evening of the
7th June about half past 8 .M. the Woordee-Major and a
Native Doctor, 1st Irregular Cavalry, went in breathless
haste to Major Chamberlain begging him by all that he
valued to fly for his life, taking with him his family; that
positive information had reached them through a trooper of
the Horse Artillery (who was told by one of the 69th sepoys)
that 9 o’clock gun-fire was to be the signal for a rise, and
that a general massacre had been agreed upon.

The evidence before the Courts Martial proved how speci-
ally correct the information was, for, although it did not come
off, it was not the less intended. Extraordinary to relate, the
authority could never be traced beyond the Horse Artillery
trooper, who declared he did not know, nor could he recognize,
the man who told him what was to happen; that he thought
it was meant to prepare the men of other regiments,

80. The night previous to their execution was passed by
the condemned prisoners in the standard guard of the 1Ist
Irregular Cavalry, and passed in feasting and revelry. One of
the prisoners (the Naick) was particularly communicative.
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Their plans, their failure, their want of pluck by not
commencing the mutiny at the appointed time, was freely
and openly discussed, mixed with regrets and taunts to one
another.

One man said: “Did I not tell you that night that
sooner or later we should repent not having carried out our
intentions ?>>  'Whilst another upbraided his friend by saying :
“It is due to you that we are now to die like dogs pinioned.”

One of the gang, a boy of about 20, was in tears, where-
on the Naick turned to him and said : “ Were it not for these
handcuffs and fetters you should now die by baving your
thorax torn out.”

They feasted until past midnight, and at dawn were all
ready for the order to move to the scene of their execution.

Cleanly dressed and with a jaunty air they marched down.

The troops were drawn up in front of the Artillery flag
staff in the following order :—

I
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The Native Horse Artillerymen were called upon to
perform the act of destruction with a detail of European
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Artillerymen in rear of each gun to enforce the order should
any hesitation be evinced ; but it is due to them to record that
none was shewn in the slightest possible degree, either in
these executions or those of the Soobadar-Major, and by 7 4. M.
of the 30th July the mutineers had all paid the penalty of
their crimes.

3l. On the 24ith July 1857 two companies of the
European Fusiliers were located in the fort for a permanency.
It had been impossible to place them there earlier from want
of men, and even now they had mostly to live under canvas.

32. The destruction of the mutineers did not put an end
to the evil designs of those who hoped and wished for a reign
of horror. To mention them would be idle. Suffice it to say
all kinds of reports were circulated in view to securing the
defection of the Irregular Cavalry, sometimes in a greater and
sometimes in a lesser degree. The right wing and head-
quarters Belooch Battalion marched on the 1st August with a
specic remittance of 2} lacs of rupees for Ferozepore.

33. On the morning of the 11th August the Native
troop of Horse Artillery was disarmed. They were ordered
for a foot parade, whilst the European Company of Artillery
on one side and two companies of the Fusiliers on the other
also paraded to be ready in case of hesitation. The men obeyed
instantly and without a murmur, and a few words were
addressed to them by order of Brigadier Farquharson.

The horses were removed to an open space immediately in
rear of the guns (which were between the barracks of the Euro-
pean Company, Artillery and Fusiliers) and a high wall thrown
up around so as to prevent syces or others from unloosing them
or being near them except at stable hours.

84. On this date also the formation of the 11th Regi-
ment, Punjab Infantry, was commenced by the transfer of a
portion of the 3rd Police Battalion. A further augmentation
took place on the 22nd idem by a draft from the 1st Sikh
Infantry at Derah Ghazee Khan,
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35. With the view of makino us2 of the battery of the
disarmed troop of Native Horse Artillery, Volunteers were
called for and sclected from the 1st Bombay Fusiliers and
European Foot Artillery, and arrangements made for making
two of the guns cffective and fit for field service.

36. On the 206th August the left wing of the 1st
Belooch Battalion marched towards Lahore escorting a specie
remittance of 5 lacs of rupees

37. Under instructions from the Chief Commissioner
a camel train for the conveyance of military stores was estab-
lished between Mooltan and Lahore and Ferozepore. This
train was found to be most uscful in forwarding the large
quantities of arms, ammunition and commissariat stores
received from Sind.

38. At this time also a Movable Column was organized
consisting of —
100 European Infantry ;
250 Punjab Infantry and Police Battalion ;
200 Irregular Cavalry ;
2 Horse Artillery guns manned by Europeans.

39. The Mohurrum this year fell in the end of August,
and some apprehension existing that during that period of
religious excitement some outbreak might take place among
the fanatical Mahomedans of the Native troops, additional
precautions were taken to prevent the occurrence of any tumult.
The Police in the city were strengthened as well as the pickets
and patrol along the canal between the city and canton-
ments, and a company of the 11th Punjab Infantry under
an European Officer was placed in a central position. In
cantonments corresponding arrangements were made. The
Mohurrum, however, passed over in entire tranquillity, and
nothing of importance occurred during the remainder of the
month of August.

40. All continued quiet at Mooltan and the neighbouring
districts until the 17th of September, when an insurrection
broke out in Googaira. The first intelligence of this move-
ment was given by the stoppage of the mail from Labore, and
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further information was received through a driver of the mail
cart establishment who rode in from Cheechawutnee. The
stoppage of the dawk had prevented the arrival of any reports
from the local officers, and the extent of the insurrection
was at first entirely unknown. All that could be ascertained
was that the mail cart had been stopped and plundered by
a party of marauders. The probability of a predatory
movement among the Bar tribes had not been wholly over-
looked, and the precautions which were adopted in the Mooltan
district have already been noticed. In Googaira the Officiating
Deputy Commissioner was instructed to follow similar meas-
ures, and to a certain extent this was done; but his confidence
in the protestations of loyalty made by the Chiefs of clans, who
were constant in their attendance on him, lulled his suspicions.

41. At that time the means available for suppressing
an insurrection were very limited. The European troops in
Mooltan were all required for the protection of the fort and for
watching the disarmed regiments. The newly-raised Punjab
Regiment consisted chiefly of recruits, and the Police Battalion
had by drafts and detachments been reduced in numbers and
efficiency. These regiments had to undertake all the duties
of the station, and after reducing the guards to their lowest
possible strength and without leaving & single relief only 250
Infantry were available for field service. The new battery of
Artillery manned by European Volunteers had not been fully
organized and equipped for field service ; the additional resallah
of Police Horse at Mooltan had not been completed ; and alarge
portion of the Police consisted of newly-raised men who had
been entertained to replace the dismissed Hindoostanees. In
the Googaira district the available means of defence were even
more restricted.

The mounted police attached to that district had been
detached to General Cortlandt’s force with a portion of the
Police Battalion and of the district police, the Hindoostanees
of the latter establishment had been dismissed, and but few
substitutes could be procured to replace them. The only
available forces were a few newly-raised sowars and a levy

Means avail.
able for sup-
pressing the
1nsurrection.



Despateh of
troops under
Captain
Fraser and
Major Cham-
berlain.

Disaffection
among the
establishment
of the Sutlej
Preventive
Line.

Measures for
disarming
menibers of
the Preven-
tive Line.

22 MUTINY REPORTS. [ CHae,

consisting entirely of recruits uninstructed in the use of arms,
with about 30 of the Police Battalion.

42. At the requisition of the Commissioner, the
Brigadier Commanding at Mooltan immediately detached a
party of 80 sowars of the 1st Regiment Irregular Cavalry to
Tolumba in company with Captain Fraser, Assistant Commis-
sioner. The next day, the 18th idem, this detachment was
followed by another of 100 sowars under Major Chamberlain.
It was considered advisable to retain the Infantry until two
guns of the new battery could be equipped for the ficld and
also because the services of these troops might be more urgent-
ly required on the Sutlej.

43. The order for the dismissal of Hindoostanees had
been extended to the establishment of the Sutlej Preventive
Line, a great proportion of which consisted of that class ; but
from the difficulty of obtaining substitutes the order could not
at once be carried out. Symptoms of insubordination had
appeared among the men, and several of them, chiefly Rangurs
from the Hansee territory, had deserted with their arms and
proceeded towards that district.

It was therefore necessary to arrange for the suppression
of these dangers and also to provide for the safety of the
country on the Sutlej, where many of the tribes are of
predatory habits and where there are some towns of wealth
and importance.

44. The Commissioner accordingly instructed Captain
Tronson, Captain of Police, and Major Voyle, Deputy Com-
missioner, to proceed at once to Kuhror, the head-quarters of
the Sutlej Prevexntive Line, with 100 Mounted Police, and after
withdrawing a portion of the ferry guards from the Sutlej to
disarm the men of the Preventive Line and then to proceed
towards Pakputtun, the most considerable town in the southern
portion of the Googaira district.

These duties were fully and efficiently performed by Major
Voyle and Captain Tronson ; but, as their operations have been
detailed in the report of the former officer, it is unnecessary to
repeat them.
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45. The communication with Jhung had also been
interrupted by the stoppage of the Lahore mail, but a fresh
line was opened vsd Shorkot ; and, as no assistance could be
furnished from Mooltan, the Officiating Deputy Commis-
sioner was instructed to apply for aid from the neighbouring
districts, and the Deputy Commissioner of Leia was at the
same time requested to forward to Jhung all available force
from the former district.

46. For the purpose of opening a communication with
Lahore the Native Agent at Bhawulpoor was instructed to
establish a line of runners along the left bank of the Sutlej to
Sirsa ; for these runners camels were substituted by order of the
Chief Commissioner. Another communication with Lahore
was also opened vid Shahpoor.

47. The Chiefs of the Lungreal clan, who held a strong
position in the pasture tracts of the Mooltan district, were
directed to join Major Voyle, and this duty they willingly
performed, rendering good service during the whole of the
insurrection.

The Chiefs of the clans of the Mooltan district, on the
Ravee, were also called upon for aid, and they at once obeyed
the summons. Salabut, Singana, a leading man of that tribe,
immediately attended at the tehseel of Seraie Sidhoo with 100
followers, and he was followed by the Hirraj and other clans.
The services of these men were most useful. They not only
protected the tehseel and the pergunna, but they prevented the
spread of the insurrection into Shorkot and the country to the
west of the Chenab, where there are many tribes of predatory
habits.

48. On the 25th of September a despatch was received
from Major Chamberlain giving intimation of his engage-
ment with the insurgents at Cheechawutnee and of his being
besieged in the seraie at that place. On the receipt of this
intelligence the Brigadier Commanding at Mooltan, at the
requisition of the Commissioner, immediately despatched two
of the guns formerly attached to the Native Horse Artillery
and now manned by European Volunteers and a detachment
of 250 Infantry, composed of drafts from the 11th Punjab
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Infantry and 8rd Police Battalion, and 100 of the Ilst
Regiment, Irregular Cavalry, under the command of Captain
Dennis. These troops marched at once and joined Major
Chamberlain’s force at Cheechawutnee on the 28th September,
but Major Chamberlain had been previously relieved by the
column from Googaira under Lieutenant-Colonel Paton.

49. In the meantime the Deputy Commissioner of Leia,
Captain Fendall, had readily complied with the requisition
from the Commissioner of Mooltan and detached a party of
the 17th Regiment, Irregular Cavalry, under Captain Hockin,
and some newly-raised levies and police to the assistance of
the Deputy Commissioner of Jhung. Captain Hockin was
requested to move on Shorkot and then to advance up the
right bank of the Ravee towards Kummalia so as to co-operate
with the column under Major Chamberlain. Captain Hockin’s
advance, however, was delayed by his pursuit of the mutineers
of the 9th Regiment, Irregular Cavalry, and subsequently by
other causes, and his detachment after advancing to near
Sidhnai retired to Shorkot.

50. A wing of the 2nd Regiment, Irregular Cavalry, and
some levies from Goojranwala had also reached Jhung, and
Captain Hawes, the Officiating Deputy Commissioner, was
instructed to advance on Kummalia with the most efficient
force he could muster, These movements, combined with the
operations of Major Chamberlain on the left bank of the Ravee
and of Lieutenant-Colonel Paton on the Googaira country, had
for their object the enclosing of the insurgents within the
tracts which they inhabited and preventing their incursions
into the country occupied by peaceably-disposed tribes; and,
although they were not fully carried out, the desired object
was eventually effected and the great body of the rebels were
forced to seek refuge in their stronghold at Jullee.

51. Unavoidable circumstances had detained the Com-
missioner at Mooltan, but on the 8th October he left that
place to join Lieutenant-Colonel Paton’s camp, accompanied by
several of the leading men of the district with their followers.
These native gentlemen have from the beginning of the
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insurrection evinced their loyalty by voluntarily offering their
services against the rebels. Their attendance served to
augment the limited force in the field, but the moral effect
of their presence was far more valuable in convincing the
insurgents that they could not hope for the support of the
higher classes of the country.

62. The Commissioner reached Mahomedpoor, 105 miles
from Mooltan, on the evening of the 11th October, but Lieu-
tenant-Colonel Paton had marched a few hours before for
Koure Shah, where the Commissioner joined him on the 12th
October. Colonel Paton returned to Mahomedpoor the same
day, and, at the suggestion of the Commissioner, directed the
march of the column to the left bank of the Ravee with the
view of commencing operations against the insurgents at
Jullee. Lieutenant-Colonel Paton was, however, recalled on
duty to Lahore and made over the command to Captain Snow.

The subsequent operations of the column are detailed in
Major Marsden’s narrative.

53. While these operations were in progress on the
Ravee the detachment under Major Voyle and Captain
Tronson had coutinued to occupy Pakputtun, the smallness of
their force preventing their undertaking any active operations
against the insurgents on the Sutlej. On the 4th October
Major Jackson, with the right wing of the 2nd Regiment,
Irregular Cavalry, arrived at Pakputtun, and Major Voyle
returned to Mooltan. The detachment was also reinforced
by a party of 50 men, Hindoostanees of the 2nd Punjab

Infantry.

On the requisition of the Commissioner, Major Jackson
marched towards Jumlera on the 15th October, and, receiv-
ing information of a large body of marauders near Jeewan
Shah, he detached a party of about 25 Infantry and 50 Sowars
to attack them. The marauders opposed the detachment, but
were defeated with the loss of 70 killed (whose bodies were
counted on the field), while only four or five of the troops

were wounded.
4
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54. Major Jackson did not advance beyond Mullooka
and returned to Pakputtun on the 19th October, whence he
marched on the 24th October and arrived at Kubboola on the
25th October.

During this period the insurgents had plundered several
villages in the Pakputtun tehseel, but on the advance of
Captain McAndrew’s column with the Commissioner they
returned to their strongholds on the Sutlej.

55. The Commissioner on the 2Sth October, leaving
Major Marsden with Captain McAndrew’s column to pursue
the insurgents who had fled from the Ravee into the Bar,
joined Major Jackson at Kubboola for the purpose of con-
certing measures with that officer for attacking the insurgents
in the jungles on the Sutlej, near Jumlera. Major Jackson,
however, determined to suspend that movement until reinforced
by 200 of the 2nd Punjab Infantry under Captain Tulloh.
The junction was effected at Kourea on the 31st October, and
on the lst November Major Jackson’s detachment joined
those under Major Chamberlain and Captain McAndrew at
Jumlera.

On the 2nd November strong bodies of Infantry were
sent into the jungles on the Sutlej, supported by the Artillery
and Cavalry on the open ground. These services were
effectually performed, but the insurgents had taken advantage
of the delay which had occurred and dispersed into the
Bhawulpoor territory.

56. After this no operations of importance occurred.
The successful attempts on their stronghold at Jullee and
their camp in the Bar and the incursions of the troops into
their fastnesses on the Sutlej had shewn them the utter hope-
lessness of their attempts to oppose the Government. On the
7th November Mahomed, Kattya, the Chief of that tribe,
surrendered himself to the Commissioner, and his example was
ultimately followed by all the leaders of the rebellion who
had not been arrested or slain.
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57. After leaving a detachment of 100 Infantry and 100
Cavalry at Jumlera and providing for the protection of the road
and country by additional posts of police, the force under Major
Chamberlain returned to Mooltan on the 12th November.

58. Subsequently the district officers have been engaged
in recovering the plundered property and in bringing the most
conspicuous of the rebels to justice. The murderers of Lieu-
tenant Neville have been traced out, arrested, tried, condemned
and punished- The principal leaders of the rebels are now
under trial. Several notorious criminals have been executed,
and the restoration of the plundered property has been nearly
completed. Besides their losses in the field and by execution,
the rebels have suffered by the capture of their cattle, and they
will be still further muleted to make good the losses of those
whom they have plundered. Entire tranquillity has for some
months prevailed in all parts of the division, and life and
property are as secure as they ever have been since the
establishment of the British Government,

59. The Commissioner cannot conclude this narrative
without prominently noticing the valuable services rendered by
the district officers subordinate to him during the whole of this
momentous period. Major Voyle, Captain Hawes and Lieu-
tenant Elphinstone have on all occasions rendered him the most
efficient support and have distinguished themselves by their
zeal, energy and judgment. To Captain Tronson, Captain of
Police, the Commissioner is much indebted for the readiness
with which he assisted the public service, as well as for the
courage, loyalty and efficiency which the Police force under his
command have everywhere displayed. To Major Marsden his
most grateful acknowledgments are due. This officer, when
about to close a long and honorable official career by retire-
ment from the service, putting aside all personal considerations
and disregarding danger, exposure and labor, voluntarily
undertook the charge of the Googaira district in the height of
the insurrection. The services which his knowledge of the
people and the district have enabled him to render are most
invaluable, and to him is also due much of the success which
has attended the suppression of the rebellion.
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EncrostrE (1) To 46.

47, From Muajor F.E. Vorcre, Deputy Commissioner, Mooltan,
to Mujor (3. W. Hayirtox, Commissioner and Superin-

tendent, Mooltan Division,—No. 72, duted 30th January
1858.

As requested by the Judicial Commissioner, I do myself
the honor to make the following relation of the circumstances
connected with the crisis in the Punjab.

2. In this district profound tranquillity prevailed and
not a suspicion was entcrtained of any probable disturbance up
to the middle of May,—indecd, with regard to the mutiny at
Barrackpore, and disquiet at other remote stations, they were
looked upon in these parts as local affairs, and, from the great

distance that intervened, not likely to affeet the soldiery at
Mooltan.

3. On the evening of the 13th May an express
reached the Commissioner from Mr. Montgomery, Judicial
Commissioner, announcing the Mutiny at Meerut and the
disturbances at Delhi, where the English were fighting for
their lives.

Immediately afterwards I was summoned to Major
Hamilton’s, where, in concert with him and Captain Tronson,
the Captain of Police, we adopted the following precautionary
measures :—

1st.—The removal of the treasure from the Edgah, an
isolated position, into the fort.

2nd.—The stopping of the distribution of letters
amongst the sepoys.

3rd.—Raising levies for the protection of the city-.

4th.—~The calling in from the thannahs and tehseels
of the mounted Police, being men of this part

of the country, on whom reliance was placed.
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5th.—Repairs of the dismantled fort, together with

storing supplies for the garrison in case of
need.

6th.—The Police were directed to apprehend all ““ Poor-
beeas”’ suspected of deserting their regiments,
Precautions were likewise taken to prevent
fakeers entering Mooltan ; at the same time a
reward of 50 rupees was offered for the capture
of each deserter.

7th.—The ferries on the Sutlej were limited to four and

strong guards posted over each ; those on the
Chenab and Ravee were likewise reduced and
guarded.

For several of these arrangements the orders of the Chief
and Judicial Commissioners were subsequently received.

These were the principal expedients resorted to to guard
against any danger that might arise from disaffection, which
we then became aware was more general throughout the
army than we had at first imagined.

4. It may be as well to mention that at this period
Mooltan contained two regiments of Native Infantry,—the
69th and 62nd,—1st Regiment of Irregular Cavalry, a troop
of Native Horse Artillery, with about 70 European Artillery-

men.

5. When the news of the disasters at Delhi and Meerut !
became generally known a marked difference was observed in
the bearing of the sepoys, many of whom omitted the salute,
which had always before been punctiliously observed, and
assumed an air of great independence; furthermore, it came to
my knowledge that meetings began to be held by the sepoys at
the different mundzrs, or Hindoo temples, where, through the

1 The real circumstances of the outbreak at Delhi and Meerut were not
generally known to the Native troops and inhabitants till long after these
events. They were aware that some disturbance had occurred at these places,
but of the result and extent of the mutinies they were ignorant. The disarm-
ing of the troops at Lahore and the occurrence at Ferozepore were very
partially known.
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medium of a spy, I ascertained that language of very sedi-
tious and treasonable character was indulged in. They plotted
to seize the fort, to plunder the town, and to overpower the
handful of Europeans. There being but one witness to these
treasonable speeches, no arrest could be made, but in order to
break up their assemblages a discharged sepoy, who had
turned devotee and was looked upon as a sort of leader, was
seized by me and placed in confinement, in which he remained
till after the capture of Delhi.

The detention of their letters had a good effect in
distracting their councils and preventing any outward display
of mutiny, as they were thus kept in ignorance of the treason
of their fellows.

6. A good deal of apprehension existed among the
townspeople insomuch so that they commenced burying their
treasure, an alarm not without foundation, for about this time,
or the morning of 8th June at 2 A. M., it was rumoured that a
portion of the right wing of the G9th Regiment attempted
insurrection by endeavoring to seize their arms, but who
were dissuaded by the better disposed.

7. The following evening instructions were received from
the Chief Commissioner to disarm the two Native Infantry
Regiments. Arrangements were made during the night by
the Commissioner to carry out these injunctions, which
were ably and efficiently accomplished on the morning of the
10th. This operation was greatly facilitated by the opportune
arrival, a few days before, of the 2nd Punjaub Infantry and
1st Punjaub Cavalry, and the completion of this measure
allayed the fears of the inhabitants, European and Native, of
this district, who, from the presence of such a large suspected
body with only 70 Europeans and no possibility of aid within
the distance of 200 miles, were naturally in a state of intense
anxiety.

8. This disarming had also a salutary effect on the
districts adjoining. It may not be irrelevant here to describe
the bitter disappointment of many of the men of the
regiment aforesaid at being deprived of their arms that day ;
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not a few are said to have broken up their beds, intending
with the side-posts to destroy their officers whilst at Mess ;
others again deserted, and many more would have left had it
not been for the effective supervision maintained at the several
ferries, coupled with the difficulty of crossing rivers when
none but the most expert swimmers would attempt the
undertaking ; moreover, several soldiers, some of whom were
subsequently ascertained to have been active agents in exciting
to mutiny, took their discharge, were afterwards brought back,
convicted of their crimes, and suffered the extreme penalty of
the Jaw. One man whose character had been previously good
was discharged for leaving the lines after roll-call.  The indi-
vidual in question had served the Honorable Company for 18
years and been decorated for his services at Chillianwalla and
Goozerat. Feeling himself aggrieved for being struck off the
strength of the army for so slight-an offence, I took advantage
of his presenting himself for a passport to Hindoostan to
enquire the causes of the disaffection in his regiment, prom-
ising him at the same time restoration and promotion if he
gave true information on this subject. He then, in the pres-
ence of Major Chamberlain and myself, gave such intelligence
as implicated several of the Native Officers and led eventually,
on his statement being corroborated, to the conviction and
execution of the Subedar-Major and ten others.

9. It is due to the 62nd Regiment to affirm that, as far
as my investigations went, nothing whatever has transpired
against any of them whereby their loyalty may be impeached ;
the same may be remarked in respect to the Irregular Cavalry
and 3rd Police Battalion, who have retained their arms
throughout the rebellion, or the Native Artillery, though the
events which elsewhere occurred rendered it advisable to
deprive them of their guns, arms, &ec.

10. In addition to the many other duties entailed on me,
that of raising the new levies and drilling them for service was
one of no slight labor, Some 800 men were enlisted, taught
the platoon exercise and detached to guard the ferries in less
than three weeks; their instruction was afterwards completed

Attitude of
disarmed
8epoys.

Evidence ob-
tained aguiust
Native Ofticers
of the 69th
Native Infan-
try from a dis.
charged sepoy.

Conviction
and execution
of Native
Officers.

Fidelity of
62nd Regi-
ment, 1st
Irregular
Cavalry and
8rd Police
Battalion.

Raising of
new levies.



Insurrection
in Gugera.

Despatch of
troops from
Multin
under Major
Voyle and
Captain
Tronson.

32 MUTINY REPORTS. [ Caar.

at their respective posts. I found these men of great use during
the rising of the insurgents on the Sutlej during September.

11. This leads me to another important crisis, which,
had it occurred a few months earlier, with doubtful friends in
our vicinity, the result might have been disastrous indeed.
There are many nomadic and predatory tribes in the Mooltan
and Googaira districts whose occupation from time immemo-
rial bas been that of attending their own numerous flocks and
herds and occasionally adding thereto by peculation. These
men since annexation conducted themselves with propriety and
seemed to appreciate the mild administration of the British
Government. Perceiving, however, that our hands were full
and the country denuded of troops, they seized the opportunity
of making, as they conceived, a name for themselves by aiding
Hss Majesty of Delks, whose power they heard from various
sources had become all paramount, and in whose cause, com-
bined with that of Islamism, it was not only just and proper
to rise, but needful as a means whereby they might secure to
themselves the free pasturage of the broad lands which Nature
had allotted to them. Inveigled into these anticipations, these
prospects of favor and self-government,—hallucinations in
some measure confirmed by the return to them of their long-
absent brethren (the prisoners of Agra),—their innate tempera-
ments could no longer resist the temptation thus afforded, and,
regardless of the respectful awe hitherto observed towards
the British Power, they burst forth in countless hordes to
pillage and to burn Government buildings and, if possible, to
exterminate the Christian.

12. About the 17th September intelligence reached
Mooltan of these outrages and the rising of the tribes. Major
Hamilton, the Commissioner, with his customary alacrity
despatched a party of sowars to the Ravee; another detach-
ment consisting of the Mooltan Mounted Police (about 100
sabres), under Captain Tronson and myself, proceeded to the
Sutle] with a view to intercept the marauders should they
make for that river and eventually for the territory of His
Highness of Bhawulpore.
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We marched without delay, making from 25 to 35 miles
per diem over a country where the water from the late
inundations covered the surface for miles, and during a period
when the heat was so intense that even the natives seemed to
sink beneath the all-powerful rays of a September’s sun. At
length, arriving on the confines of this district, we encamped
at the village of Sahooka, where we were informed that large
bands of insurgents had assembled in the Googaira villages
for the purpose of giving battle to our small force either on
their own ground or of surprising us during the night.

Owing to the non-arrival that day of 50 of the new
levies and sundry sowars under one Surufraz Khan, we
marched at noon, reaching the Sahooka encampment at 9 ». a.
No sooner had the horses and baggage been got together
than arrangements were made to secure the camp by forming
up as close as possible, placing pickets at the most assailable
positions, and by bivouacking on the ground.

The following day, on the Morning Star appearing, the
enemy, with imprecations and loud shouts of “ Ulli, Ulli,”” fell
upon our camp, but were immediately received by a brisk fire,
which so staggered their leading files that the whole body fled
with the utmost precipitation; rallying again within the
village they returned to the attack, but, meeting with a similar
reception, the mounted portion made for the Bar, the foot for
an island on the Sutlej.

At dawn of day we proceeded to the attack of the village,
putting to the sword the whole male inhabitants, including
the bearer of their war drum, divided the captured herds and
flocks among the Lungreeals (a friendly tribe), destroyed their
granaries, and burnt the town; afterwards we advanced to
“ Jumleyra, >’ ¢ Luckoke > and ¢ Burra Beyla, ’ where we did
likewise, the inhabitants having joined the assailants that
morning, and instigated the people of Sahooke to destroy our
force.

13. We might have halted here for the night, the
troops having had nothing since 10 A. M. of the previous day ;
but the enemy having made a parallel movement towards the

b
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ancient and important city of Pak Puttan, purposing to plun-
der it ere our arrival, we pushed on, making the 55 miles in 21
conseeutive hours.  On reaching the place confidence seemed
to be at once restored, and such was the joy of the inhabitants
at being thus speedily relieved, coupled with our announcement
of the fall of Delhi, that they illuminated Pak Puttan in

honor of the occasion.

14. We rested here a-while, say a few hours, when on
hearing from the Tehsceldar that the people of Ferozepore had
deprived the Government servants of their arms, we consid-
ered it advisable to detach a party of Mounted Police, which
not only fired the place, but captured some men on whom
Government arms were discovered and who were subsequently
sentenced under the Act of 1857.

15. The punishment inflicted on these people had the
effect of quicting all around, and with the exception of an
exp-dition to certain islands on the Sutlej in which Mr. Oliver,
Deputy Superintendent of Buttiana, evinced much skill and
judgment, nothing particular occurred until my return to
Mooltan by dircetion of the Chief Commissioner.

16. I am aware of the very imperfect sketch I have
given in the above account ; but, owing to the many and vari-
ous duties devolving on me, especially at this peculiar time,
1 trust what has been said may be considered sufficient for the
purposes required.

17. T have only further to add that the measures which
were adopted have, through the blessing of Providence, been
attended with success.

The mutiny, as respects Mooltan, has been happily
nipped in the bud, and now that European troops are passing
throuzh the feeling of security is established.

P.S.—Mr, R. Shaw accompanied the Sutlej expedition,
and was present at Sahooka, Pak Puttan, and the Islands,
where he did good service.
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ENcLosurE (2) To 46.

48. Detail of occurrences in the Jhang District from May to
December 1857, by Cuptain I, J, H.awrs, Deputy Com-
MISSLONET .

1. On the first receipt from the Judicial Commissioner
of news of the mutiny and massacre at Delhi and Meerut and
of the general disaffection of the Hindoostances measures were
immediately taken to keep in check and, if necessary, coerce
the company of Regular Infantry (16th Native Infantry
Grenadiers) on duty at the station, and which detachment,
being one-third numerically stronger than the Police Com-
pany, also on duty here, and furnished with its full
complement of spare ammunition, would, had they risen, have
given much trouble. Under the circumstances I called in
the guards of the Police Company from the district, replacing
them with a like number of rural Police, and so distributed
them,—the few Police Cavalry at head-quarters, the spare
Sudder Police and city Chowkecdars,—as to admit of their
collecting on a minute’s warning at any threatened point.
These arrangements were secretly made so as not to cause
alarm or lead sepoys to imagine themselves distrusted. They
were permitted also to retain their arms and to continue in the
performance of their ordinary duties. At the same time the
temper of the men themselves and their acticns were strictly
watched, their Native Officers kept informed, as far as it was
deemed prudent, of what was taking place around them, but
no doubtful characters were allowed ingress to the lines,
and all correspondence underwent careful serutiny before
delivery to the men. Subsequently I urged the recall of this
detachment to its own head-quarters, and this was effected in
the most quiet and orderly manner, the men being disarmed
on their reaching their cantonments at Mecan Mcer, It is
but fair to state that some credit is due to Licutenant Wall,
Commanding the Detachment.

2. It was not deemed necessary or expedient to increase
to any extent the police establishments at the various tehsecls
and thanahs, as in case of any local disturbance a sufficient body
of horsemen from head-quarters could have been despatched to
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any of the larger posts within 12 hours. The Police officers
were, bowever, warned to be always on the alert, to send in
daily reports of their respective jurisdictions, and in case of
need to strengthen their posts by the addition of the village
watchmen and retainers of loyal and trustworthy lumberdars.
The heads of tribes had previously certified to me their willing-
ness to afford the Government any assistance in their power.
There is no doubt that at first the feeling of the people in
general was with the Government, especially as their interests
had become in a measure mixed up with ours, and their power
of doing mischief greatly lessened by the wholesale entertain-
ment in our service of their warlike population. Subsequent
events, however, showed what little reliance was to be placed in
any one class or caste when the protracted seige of Delhi, the
partial stoppage of commerce and the numerous disparaging
rumours of loot announced but too plainly that our power in
the North-West had been shaken to its basis.. The greatest
Measures for  endeavours were made to prevent the circulation and counteract
},l:.g::(i‘:'lct\:!l]ftion the ill-effects of such rumours. The judicious orders of the
"’_f‘:::ti);c:cm“' Chief Commissioner regarding the reduction of the minor fer-
Measures for  Ties and the strict guarding of the principal ones were carried
*;';“T:*‘“g out to their full extent; no Hindoostanees or other doubtful
characters were allowed passage thereby; fakeers and other
religious vagrants belonging to the district were confined to
their own villages, whilst those from other districts, on failing
to render good accounts of themselves, were detained in jail ;
spreaders of seditious libels and other malcontents were publicly
and severely punished ; the police was weeded of its Hindoo-
stanee members and useless characters ; and the principal posts
were strengthened and provisioned in case of sudden attack.

An early opportunity was taken to forward the surplus
specie in the Treasury, amounting to about 70,000 rupees, to
Mooltan by water under an escort of police.

Continuarce I need scarcely add that the current work of the district

of the tnrret  gas carried on in both sudder and tehseel courts as usual, nor

‘“’t",i"tt with-  wag any reason given to the population to suspect that our
out 1n Cl‘r‘Jp'

tion, position in India was so critical as it really was.
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A troop of Cavalry (100 sabres) was raised and organized
within three months. In it the relations and dependents of
all the influential lumberdars found honorable and well remu-
nerative service. Half of this troop was afterwards sent to
Googaira, where they did, I believe, good service, and many
of them on the restoration of quiet in these parts volunteered
for service down-country into the 2nd Sikh Cavalry.

3. The result of the precautions taken was that not
only was the tranquillity of the district preserved, but on two
different occasions parties of armed mutineers were seized or
cut up. On the first occasion a body of one Subadar and nine
sepoys of the 14th Native Infantry were apprehended whilst
trying to escape down the Jhelum River and, after trial,
publicly hanged. On the second a Ressaldar and 19 sowars
of the 9th Irregular Cavalry, after making several fruitless
attempts to cross the river, were met by a party under Captain
Hockin and Messrs. Chalmers, Cowan and Thompson and killed
to a man after a most desperate resistance, the villagers on the
latter occasion rendering good service in tracking the mutineers.

4. Matters proceeded thus smoothly until the 17th of
September, when the Googaira Bar tribes, many of whom graze
their flocks in this district, rose and according to a precon-
certed plan attacked and plundered almost all the smaller
police posts situated in the Jungle Bar, chiefly, I am of
opinion, for the sake of the arms. I may here mention that
these police chowkees are, with one exception, mere open sheds
guarded by three to four Burkundazes, and consequently
incapable of defence. The exception, v¢z., the thana of Gupni,
contained on the night in question but four Policemen and two
camel sowars, who, never dreaming of danger, were surprised
by a stratagem and overpowered before they were well awake.
On the first intelligence of this outbreak and before we were
aware of its extent, Mr. MacMahon, Extra Assistant, and
myself rode out with the few Cavalry at our command to
the Gupni Thanah, too late, however, to intercept the rebels
as on hearing of our approach they retreated into their dense
jungles in the adjacent district of Googaira. A few horsemen
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borrowed from the Deputy Commissioner of Goojranwala
enabled me to clear the north-east end of the district and to
seize a few of the rebels and their cattle. Thus far only a
few small posis in the wild and thinly-populated jungle Bar
had suffered; but, as the zemindars inhabiting the villages
bordering the Chenab from one end of the district to the other
are all more or less intermixed by marriage, conformity of
interests, caste and habits with the Bar tribes, it became very
evident that, unless measures were speedily taken to punish the
rchels and inspire fear into the disaffected, the whole district
would become disorganized. The whole military strength of
Jhung at that time consisted of 75 Police Infantry, 73
Mounted Police and 45 newly-raised mounted levies, as 2%
of the Mounted Police had previously been sent to join General
Van Cortlandt’s force and 50 of the new levy to the Googaira
district. More than two-thirds of the Cavalry remaining
were on outpost duty in the distriet, nor would their recall
to head-quarters have been prudent. It was therefore im-
possible for me to commence offensive operations against an
enemy numbering from 2,000 to 4,000, or in fact to do more
than ensure, as far as practicable, the safety of the public
buildings, jail and treasury, the large cities of Jhung and
Muggiana, and keep open the main communications.

5. When, on requisition made both to the Chief Com-
missioner and direct to surrounding District Officers, one
troop, 2nd Irregular Cavalry, under Captain Cureton, and one
company, Goojranwala Levy, under Captain Legallais, also
a company of the Leia Levy and 40 Mounted Police from
Shahpore, as well as 250 17th Irregular Cavalry under
Captain Hockin, arrived, I was enabled to spare at once for
operations in the Gogaira district one half of my own Police
Cavalry in addition to the whole of the troops sent to my
assistance, whereas had no troops been available I feel assured,
from the increase of certain crimes, from acts of retaliation
and other unmistakable signs, that the whole district would
bave been specedily disorganized. As it was, the villagers
rendered every assistance to the rebels, whilst they withheld
even common information from the Government,
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6. The annexed statement! will show how severely those
taking part in the rebellion who were apprehended in this
district and tried by me were dealt with.

7. To resume my history. The first to arrive were the
Shahpore sowars and company of Leia Levy. To these I added
a few matchlockmen and 40 of my own Mounted Police,
sending them under Mr. MacMahon towards Kumalia (Googaira
district) with instructions to open a communication with Major
Chamberlain, 1st Irregular Cavalry, who was said to be on the
left bank of the Ravee with a small detachment from Mooltan.
I myself proceeded to Chineot to meet the detachment from
Goojranwala and arrange for the protection of that end of the
district. Returning to Jhung with the detachment two days
after Mr. MacMahon’s departure, I halted one day to lay in
supplies, &c., and the following one proceeded to join Mr.
MacMahon ; but on the second march, finding no water and
hearing from that officer that he had failed to gain any
information of Major Chamberlain, and that the town of
Kumalia had been plundered of every stick therein, it coming
to my knowledge also that a body of the rebels threatened
Jhung from the east, I recalled Mr. MacMahon, whose
remaining at Kumalia would have been useless, and retraced
my steps to Jhung. One day was spent by me in providing for
the protection of the place and in sending Captain Hockin
with his wing of 17th Irregular Cavalry to Shorkote, not only
to look after that place, which was a good deal disturbed, but to
prevent his regiment, which had lost many men by desertion
at Delhi, from coming into contact with the troop of 2nd
Irregular Cavalry. 1In the interim, having heard from Major
Chamberlain, I joined that officer with the whole of the troops
sent me and remained with the force until the dispersion of the
rebels at Killawalla, in the capacity of Civil Officer, whilst my
assistant, Lieutenant Lane, had command of the Leia Levy.

8. It is not my province to show here the proceedings of
the force whilst employed in the Gogaira district. Suffice
it to say that during the time I remained with the force
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large seizures of grain and cattle were made, and the rebels
finally obliged to abandon their position and seek safety in
flight across the Ravee. On the 29th of October the Jhung
detachment, minus the Leia Company, which was left at
Kumalia, returned to Jhung, making on its way one large
seizure of armed rebels and their cattle. Of the former three
were hanged and the remainder sentenced to 14 years’
imprisonment with labor. Arrived at Jhung, I detached
Lieutenant Lane with a few men to Shorkote (the wing of
17th Irregular Cavalry having been in the interim removed
to Kumalia), where he did excellent service in apprehending
rebels, confiscating their property, recovering plunder and
restoring order. I myself accompanied Captain Cureton in
one more expedition through the Jungle Bar, making one
seizure of rebels and cattle. Shortly after this, tranquillity
and order being completely restored, the whole of the troops
sent for our protection were withdrawn and a company
of foot levies substituted for the newly-raised mounted levy
and to replace the company of Regular sepoys formerly
stationed here. It only remained to me now to reward the
loyal and punish the guilty.

9. I have simply given here a brief outline of the events
which actually occurred in this district and the measures
adopted by me for the preservation of peace therein. It would
be difficult, if not an impossible task, to convey an idea of the
difficulties to be contended against, the daily and hourly
anxieties incurred, the constant vigilance and unremitting
exertions required during the last eight eventful months. You
are doubtless aware of the difficult nature of the country, sur--
rounded as it is on all sides by trackless wastes and intersected
by rivers fringed with impenetrable grass and jhow jungle.

Excrosure (3) To 46.

49. From Lieutenant N. W. ELPHINSTONE, Assistant Commis-
sioner (late in charge district Googaira), to Major G. W.
Hauirron, Commissioner and Superintendent, Mooltan
Division,—No. 4., dated Camp Tibbee, 30th January 1858.

IN compliance with the instructious contained in your
demi-official letter of the 23rd instant, I have the honor to
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submit a brief abstract of occurrences, &c., in the Googaira
district from the outbreak of the mutinies to the 13th October
1857.

2. Early on the 13th of May 1857 a demi-official
circular from the Judicial Commissioner reached me with the
information that the Native troops at Meerut had mutinied,
and that all the Europcans at Delhi had been massacred. A
postscript added that the troops at Meean Meer had been
quietly disarmed. Considering the isolated position of the
station, the probability of the spirit of disaffection having
spread to the greater part of the Native Army, and the
embarrassment that was likely to ensue in the event of a local
insurrection taking place, I thought it advisable to take away
without delay the arms of the detachment of the 49th Native
Infantry stationed here as a Treasury guard. This was
accomplished without difficulty. The sepoys surrendered their
arms after a little hesitation, but without resistance. I
removed the whole company to the seraie and placed in the
Treasury a Subadar and 24 sepoys of Captain Tronson’s Police
Battalion, who had assisted me in disarming the company
of the 49th, their place at the jail being supplied by the
servants of the Sikh Jageerdars, Babas Sumpoorun Sing and
Khem Sing, who then happened to be at the station.

8. The Officer Commanding the 49th Native Infantry
asked me to retain his disarmed men at Googaira, but the
reports which reached me about the general dissatisfaction
prevailing among them, and the difficulty of watching so
large a body of men with the small force at my disposal,
rendered it impossible to comply with his request. I sent
off the men without a guard to Lahore, and I believe no
desertions took place on the road.

4. The tranquillity of the district in the meantime
remained undisturbed. It was of course impossible to prevent
reports regarding the disasters which had taken place in the
North-Western Provinces from spreading among the native
population. The letters in the post office were always
carefully examined, and those containing allusions to the
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disturbances were withheld from distribution, but, as usual
in such cases, the real state of affuirs was soon generally
appreciated. No excitement, however, was observable, and I
found no difficulty in obtaining candidates for the extra Police
which T entertained to strengthen the thannahs and gnard the
ferries on the Ravee and Sutlej.

5. Direct communication with Sirsa and Hissar by

horse dawk had been established according to your instruc-
tions, and arrangements had been made to extend it to Agra,
when about the end of May intelligence of the mutiny of
the Hurriana Light Infantry and of the Irregular Cavalry
stationed there reached Googaira. A few hurried lines from
Captain Robertson informed me that all the Europeans at
Hissar had been massacred and that he himself was about to
attempt to escape towards Puttealla. A note from Mr. Oliver
asking me to send to his assistance as many men as I
could spare and requesiing me to secure the ghaut opposite
Fazilkha led me to believe at first that the mutineers after
plundering Sirsa were advancing towards the Sutlej. T soon
afterwards ascertained, however, that they had left Hurriana
and had joined the mutincers at Delhi. No time was lost
in despatching every available man to Fazilkha. As there
was every probability of the detachments meeting with
opposition, and the number of men I could supply must
neeessarily be small, I selected for this duty the most efficient
and best disciplined portion of the police of this district. The
force consisted of 30 of Captain Tronson’s Police Battalion,
96 Police Burkundazes, and about 1Q0 sabres of the Mounted
Police, the whole under Licutenant Pearse. I was glad to
find afterwards that the Cavalry especially of this little force,
did good service against the insurgent tribes in Bhutteeana.

6. The month of June passed away without any remark-
able occurrence.  Licenses for carrying matchlocks were with-
drawn and the matchlocks distributed to the new extra
Police ; a new ressallah was raised to supply the place of the
Mounted Police sent to Sirsa, and blacksmiths entertained
to make up swords and repair arms. On the 20th, when
visiting the jail with Mr. L. Berkeley, the Extra Assistant,
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I discovered a quantity of tobacco, sweetmeats, and other
prohibited articles under the prisoners’ cots. An investigation
took place, which resulted in the dismissal of the Jail Darogah
for neglect ; and a circumstance was then elicited which at the
time appeared insignificant, but to which subsequent events
have led me to attach more importance. The Darogah had
allowed Uhmud Khan, the Chief of the Khurrals, to visit the
jail without my knowledge,—a fact he then explained that
Uhmud Kban was his religious father; that he had known
him for many years; and that he had protected his family
during former insurrections.

7. On the 8th July 1857 a slight disturbance took place
in the Pak Putton tehseel at the village of Lukhoke on the
Sutlej. Some chuprassees, who had been sent there to collect
a balance of revenue, were turned out of the village by the
Lumbardars, and, on their returning with assistance from
the Police chowkees, discovered that the Lumbardars had fled
to the Bhawulpoor side, and that a large crowd of armed men
had collected there apparently with the intention of landing
on this side. I immediately despatched 100 of the new police
and 30 horsemen to Mr. Davies, the Customs patrol on
the river, gave him instructions how to act, and made arrange-
ments to proceed there myself with reinforcements should the
disturbance become more serious. The Bhawulpoor villagers
made an attempt to cross, but, finding nearly 200 Policemen
ready to receive them, they returned to their own side and
soon dispersed. The Lumbardars who had commenced the
disturbance gave themselves up and were fined and imprisoned,
and tranquillity was again restored for the time  Cattle-
stealing and highway robbery, chiefly co nmitted by men from
Bhawalpoor, was, however, still of frequent occurrence. Some
time previous to this the Bhawulpoor villagers had forcibly
possessed themselves of the boats of one of the ferries, and
on the guard attempting to rescue then had assembled in
large armed crowds and had threatened to attack them. All
my endeavours to regain possession of these boats through
the Kardars and the native agents proved unsuccessful Like
all other requisitions to the Bhawulpoor authorities at that
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time, they were either not attended to or no real effort was
made to comply with them. This was the more to be
lamented in this case as these boats greatly facilitated
afterwards the escape of the insurgents to the opposite bank,
and enabled the Bhawulpoor plunderers to co-operate readily
with their friends on this side.

8. My letter No. 369 of the 27th July described the
outbreak which had occurred during the previous night at
the Googaira Jail. Considerable loss of life took place on the
occasion among the prisoners, but the time was not one for
hesitation. The prisoners were in a savage state of excitement,
and I found that Uhmud Khan, Khurral, had just fled from
the station, leading me to suppose from his antecedents that
he had done so for the purpose of taking advantage of this
embarrassment to rise in insurrection. Fifty-one prisoners
were killed and wounded, and the émcufe was promptly
suppressed. Mr. L. Berkeley distinguished himself by his
presence of mind and energy on this occasion, and I brought
to your notice the very satisfactory conduct of the detachment
of the Kuttar Mookhee Battalion. Uhmud, Khurral, was
again brought into the station and kept for some time under
surveillance, but no satisfactory proof of his complicity was
discovered. He was released after a time, and entered into
heavy recognizances, like the other Chiefs of the predatory
tribes on the Ravee and Sutlej, not to leave the sudder station
without especial permission.

9. The month of August passed without any occurrence
of importance. The Chief Commissioner authorized a mili-
tary levy for Googaira, and recruits came in rapidly ; but
a supply of arms was not obtained till the beginning of
September. Their training therefore was stiil very imperfect
when the insurrection suddenly broke out on the 17th of that
month. Two hundred of the recruits had been despatched
to Peshawur on the 15th. I was therefore still able to recall
them immediately I received intelligence of the outbreak ;
and of the Mounted Levy sent to Lahore in two detachments
(80 horsemen each) 1 succeeded in recalling one party before
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they reached their destination. The first information of
the intended insurrection was brought to me by Surfiraz
Khan, Khurral, on the night of the 16th. He insisted on
seeing me about 11 p. M., stating that he had something
of great importance to communicate, and on being admitted
informed me that all the Chiefs of the Ravee tribes, who
were present at the Sudder on heavy moockulkas, had fled
with all their followers, and that there could be no doubt
that they intended to rise immediately. This was confirmed
from other sources, and I lost no time in sending the intel-
ligence to the Chief Commissioner and to yourself. Surfiraz
Khan expressed great fears for the safety of Kumalia,
which the Katheahs and Khurrals often lamented not having
plundered during the last insurrections in 1848 and 1849,
when they were allowed to retain all property plundered from
Hindoo and Sikh villages. To allay his fears I gave him an
escort of 15 horsemen, who were to aid the Thanadar and
Police at Kumalia in protecting the town and thannah until
the arrival of reinforcements. An express was also sent to the
Tehseeldar of Hurruppa ordering him to arrest, if possible, the
chiefs who had fled and to defend the tahseel as long as he
could in the event of an attack being made. This express as
well as the one sent to you I afterwards found was intercepted
by the Moordana tribe near Mohammedpoor.

10. Mr. L. Berkeley was sent in the meantime with
20 horsemen to capture, if possible, Uhmud, Khurral, before
he had crossed the Ravee opposite to his village of Jhumra,
and Lieutenant Mitchell and myself commenced to make prep-
arations for the outbreak which was now evidently about to
take place. The levies were all armed and mustered ; the few
remaining horsemen were sent out in every direction to bring
in intelligence; and arrangements made for the protection of
the station. With the small and somewhat inefficient force at
my disposal it would have been obviously impossible to provide
a guard for each separate building in such a straggling and ill-
laid out station as Googaira. I therefore determined at once
to remove all Government records, stores, treasure, &ec., to the
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tahseel and transfer the prisoners from the jail, which would
otherwise have required a very large gnard and thereby crippled
my resources, to the seraie, a building near the tahscel and
commanded by it. All the other public buildings I found
untenable in the event of a protracted defence becoming
necessary. The Kutcherry was of course an open building,
and as such useless. The Treasury had no well, anl was
besides commanded by the Kutcherry, whilst the jail again
was too isolated.

11. At daybreak I received a note from Mr. L. Berkeley
informing me that he had not succeeded in intercepting
Uhmud, Khurral; that the boat in which the latter had
crossed had been moored in a creck on the oppositz side
beyond the reach of musketry; and that the chowkeadar in
charge of it had declared that he had received strict orders
not to let the boat return, an order he was determined to obey,
as Uhmud, Khurral, had become king of the country. That
Chief himsclf soon made his appearance, and in reply to Mr.
Berkeley’s threats and remonstrances informed him that he
had renounced his allegiance to the British Government and
considered himseclf a subject of the King of Delhi, from
whom he had received orders to raise the whole country.
His followers thereupon began a matchlock fire which was
returned by the horsemen on our side, but without effect,
until Mr. Berkeley himself brought down with his rifle a
conspicuous personage who I afterwarls found was the
Moollah of the village. On receipt of this intelligence I
immediately despatched Liceutenant Mitchell with 60 of the
Kuttar Mookhee Battalion, and 100 of the levies to rein-
force Mr. Berkeley, and after completing the arrangements
at the Sudder and removing the prisoners, treasure, &c.,
joined the detachment mysclf at the ferry. Fresh boats
from a point higher up the river had in the meantime arrived,
and we lost no time in crossing our detachment and marched
towards Jhumra, where the rebels had collected in some force
and were apparently preparing to oppose us. On our approach-
ing nearer, however, they wavered, and without standing
the first volley of musketry dispersed in every direction. Our
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Cavalry only consisted of 15 sowars, but those under Mr.
Berkeley were sent to pursue the fugitives, and they soon
returned with about 20 prisoners, all the families, and 700
cattle. After setting fire to the village of Jhumra we
returned to the station.

12. This defeat and the loss the Khurrals thus sus-
taiced was not without effect., The Khurrals of that part
of the district could never be induced again by Uhmud Khan
to combine against us, and that Chief after several fruitless
efforts to accomplish this was obliged to join with his im-
medite dependents, the Wattoo tribe, on the left bank of the
river. The next morning, the 18th of September, I sent
Mr. Berkeley with a detachment of horse and foot police
towards Koure Shah to endeavour to re-open the communication
with Mooltan, and if necessary to assist the Tehseeldar at
Hurruppa, who I presumed was still in possession of the
tehseel there. On his arrival at Ackbur, however, Mr.
Berkeley discovered that a large body of Wuttoos had
assembled in the neighbourhood with the intention of plun-
dering the village during the night, the Lumbardar owing
to his loyalty having become obnoxious to the insurgents.
The detachment therefore did not move on to Koure Shah till
the next day, and a party of Burkundazes was sent in the
meantime to Ackbur for the protection of the village,

13. On the 19th a detachment of the 1st Sikh Cavalry
under Lieutenant the Hon’ble A. Chichester arrived at
Googaira, but the rain was falling in torrents and the horses
were so tired that no new movement could be undertaken that
day. Early the next morning, however, I despatched Lieuten-
ants Chichester and Mitchell across the river with instruc-
tions to scour the country as far as Pindee Sheikh Moosa, and
attack and disperce any insurgents they might still find
assembled on the other side. A few hours after their departure
I received intelligence that some Khurrals under Uhmud
Khan had crossed to this side during the night and had been
joined by a large body of Wuttoos, and that they had signified
their intention of attacking the station during the day. An
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express was immediately despatched to Colonel Paton, who
was then within a few miles of Googaira with a detachment
from Lahore, and letters were sent to Lieutenant Chichester
and Mr. Berkeley communicating this intelligence and re-
questing them either to co-operate or to cut off the retreat
of the insurgents in the event of an attack taking place.

1+. Colonel Paton’s detachment, consisting of three
Horse Artillery guns, one company of Her Majesty’s Slst,
one company of Soobhan Khan’s Regiment, and a party of
the Lahore Mounted Polica arrived at Googaira about 8
A. M. The camp had been pitched near the Kutcherry, and
arrangements had been made to quarter the European soldiers
in that building when intellizgence suddenly arrived that
the insurgents had silently approached the station under cover
of some Joar fields, and that they were rapidly advancing.
Colonel Paton ordered the camp to be struck and prepared to
receive them by placing one gun on the puckha road leading
to the village of Googaira and the others on the road towards
the jail. 'When the rebels had approached within 400 yards
the gans opened upon them with grape, and after a few
rounds they retired slowly. I pursued them with 40 men of
Sobhan Khan’s Regiment, which had been placed under me
by Colonel Paton, but soon found it impossible to keep up
with them and therefore sent several urgent messages to
Colonel Paton requesting him to send the Cavalry and guns
after the retiring enemy. These messages were either not
understood or did not meet with Colonel Paton’s approval,
for they did not produce the desired effect. I at last met the
Colonel marching with his whole force towards the village of
Googaira. We thus advanced for about a quarter of a mile,
but as the ene.ny was retreating at the rate of about six
miles an hour, and our own pace was only about three miles
an hour, it was soon discovered that the pursuit was not
likely to be effectual, and the troops returned to camp.
The loss sustained by the rebels on this occasion was not
severe, although they were exposed to several rounds of
shrapnel and grape, and the detachment of Soobhan Khan’s
battalion with me contrived to give them one volley ; six men
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were killed and a few more wounded. The rcbels retired
rapidly beyond the village of Futtehpoor and into the
jungles near the river, but were not met by the detachments
under Lieutenant Chichester and Mr. Berkeley, the latter
being too far to co-operate effectively and the former having
found some difficulty, I understand, in crossing the river.

15. On the following day, the 21st, I received reliable
information that Uhmud Khban and some of the other
Khurral Chiefs had retreated into the jungles near Gishkowree,
about five miles from Ackbur, and had bheen joined there by a
large body of Wuttoos. Captain Black was thereupon
directed to proceed with a party of horsemen to Ackbur, and,
after being joined there by Lieutenant Chichester’s detach-
ment, to surprise and if possible to destroy this body of
insurgents. Captain Black it appears divided his Cavalry
(about one hundred and fifty men) into three detachments,
himself taking command of one of these, and the others being
placed under Lieutenants Chichester and Mitchell. The
Infantry not being able to advance with sufficient rapidity
were left behind. 'When within a mile or two of the rebel
encampment, scouts were met with and Captain Black’s party
dashed after them at arapid pace. The rebels were prepared
for the attack. They received Captain Black’s party with a
discharge of matchlocks, which killed the Ressaldar on the
spot and unhorsed several others. This created a confusion,
which the insurgents immediately took advantage of by ad-
vancing with loud shouts, and surrounding the sowars. The
jungle was heavy ; 14 or 15 of the sowars were killed, and the
remainder had some difficulty in extricating themselves. They
were, however, soon rallied by their officers near a ravine, and
several of the insurgents who had ventured so far in the
pursuit were cut down,—among them Uhmud Khan himself,
his nephew Moorad and Sarung, the Chief of the Begke
Khurrals. This expedition, though attended with severe loss
on our side, thus ended in irreparable disaster to the insurgents.
Uhmud Khan had been the chief instigator of the movement;
his reputation for success in former insurrections was con-
siderable and his influence over the tribes on the Ravee
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unbounded.  The important results, however, which would
bave followed his death were eounteracted for a time by the
disastrous occurrences I have now to deseribe.

16. It was of paramount importance to re-open the com-
munication with Mooltan which had been obstrueted by the
Moondanalis under Wulleedad, and Mr. Berkeley, as already
statdd, had been sent for that purpose to Koure Shah with
instructions to communicate with the Tehsecldar at Hurruppa.
He was unable to co-operate on the 20th, but on the morning
of the 21st he left Koure Shah for Mohumudpoor, leaving a
small guard in the seraie behind him. He had hardly advanced
a couple of miles, however, when he heard the drums of the
insurgents and gome musketry fire in the direction of the
Koure Shah Seraie.  This induced him to retrace his steps, and
he soon came upon a considerable body of insurgents composed
of the Futtyanah, Turhanah and Moordanah tribes, and led by
their Chiefs Bhawul Sullabut and Wulleedad.  Mr. Berkeley
immediately charged them at the head of about 60 horse-
men, killed 14 of them and dispersed the remainder. A
note received from him during the day mentioned with
high approbation the conduct of Baba Khem Singh on this
occasion. He also intimated that he would again advance
the next day, but by a circuitous route, so as to be able to
disperse any insurgents that might bave again assembled.
This easy victory on the 21st scemed to have rendered him
somewhat incautious, and he advanced without hesitation
into the jungles near Koure Shah on the morning of the
22nd. He was not molested until he reached a swampy spot
between the village of Koure Shah and the Ravee. A cone
siderable body of insurgents, who were hiding in the long
grass which covers the banks of the river here, suddenly
attacked his party. The unfavourable nature of the ground,
and the unexpectedness of this onset prevented the men from
forming up and 2all was soon in confusion. Mr. Berkeley
was cut off and surrounded by the insurgents. He had been
wounded in the arm by a matchlock ball and had dismounted,
but disdained to save himself by flight like the remainder of
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his detachment.  After discharging his fowling-picce and
rifle, he defended himself with his sword, and after cutting
down several of the insurgents was himself overpowered and
killed by them. According to all native accounts the first
fatal blow was struck by Moorad, I"uttyanah, who speared
him from behind. This miscreant is now in custody and will
no doubt be brought to condign punishment. Upwards of 50
of Mr. Berkeley’s detachment were killed on this occasion,
and the loss would have been still more severe had it not
been for a party of the Kuttar Mookhee Battalion, who rallied
their comrades near the banks of the river and opposed a
determined front to the pursuing enemy.

17. The news of this disaster reached me the same even-
ing on my return from an expedition with Captain Black to
Gishkowree, the ground on which Uhmud, Khurral, had been
killed the previous day. A party of Soobhan Khan’s Regiment
was despatched to Noorshah, where Mr. Berkeley’s detachment
had retired to after their engagemeunt in the morning, and on
the arrival of Mr. Egerton from Lahore I made over the sta-
tion to him and started towards Koure Shah on the afternoon
of the 23rd, accompanied by Captain Black and Lieutenant
Chichester. At Ackbur authentic intelligence reached me
of the plunder of the Hurrupa Tehseel, and all the native
accounts agreed that the whole country as far as Toolumba, in
the Mooltan District, was in open insurrection. This induced
me to apply to Colonel Paton for two guns, but he joined us
himself in the morning with three guns and the whole of his
Infantry. We remained the 24th at Koure Shah, and, after
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18. On the morning of the 26th accordingly after we
had advanced about two miles from Hurruppa a noise of drums
and sunlhs from a line of jungle about a mile to the right
of the road announced the approach of the insurgents. The
troops were drawn up with the guns in the centre, and as the
ground was open the engagement promised to be a decisive
one, but, as on a former occasion at Googaira, the guns again
opened when the enemy had approached within 400 yards and
no use was made of the Cavalry when they fled. The whole
force was sent in pursuit at the usual rate of about three miles
an hour, and the rebels had of course disappeared when we
reached the low line of jungle before alluded to. This jungle
was found impracticable for Artillery. The pursuit was
therefore given up and the force continued its march to
Cheechawutnee.

19. Colonel Paton halted at Cheechawutnee for some
days chicfly with the view I believe of allowing a rein-
forcement from Mooltan to join Major Chamberlain. A
detachment from Lahore under Captains Snow and McAndrew
arrived there also on the 25th. They had met a body of the
Moordanahs near Mohumudpoor during the night and one
or two of the party had been wounded in a slight skirmish
which had ensued. On the 30th Colonel Paton’s detach-
ment returned towards Googaira after leaving a strong guard
at Cheechawutnee. The tahseel of Hurruppa was also repaired
and garrisoned, and on the Ist of October the detachment
marched to Mohumudpoor for the same purpose. About five
miles from Mohumudpoor fresh cattle tracks across the road
made it evident that considerable droves of cattle had recently
entered the jungle to the left of the road. Captain Snow
thereupon received permission to make a reconnaissance which
proved however far from successful. A party of insurgents
gurrounded the Lahore Light Horse under Captain Snow in
a dense jungle, wounded that officer himself as well as the
Sergeant-Major and killed one of the troopers. As soon as
this intelligence reached Colonel Paton he halted the column
and tried to pursue the insurgents with his Infantry, but
without success, After traversing the jungle for about two
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hours we returned to Mohumudpoor with a few stray buffaloes
which had been picked up in a deserted cattle farm.

20. On the 2nd of October I rode into Googaira to com-
plete the dawk arrangements. Dawk horses had again been
stationed at each seraie; these buildings had all been slightly
fortified, and a strong guard of horse and foot had been placed
in each to protect the communication. I found on my arrival
that a considerable body of Wuttoos had collected on the right
bank of the river opposite Googaira and that a party of them
under Nadir Shah, Kooreshee, had destroyed the boats at the
Marece ferry and had driven away some workmen who were
constructing a tower for the protection of the ghauts. Early
on the morning of the 3rd I accordingly proceeded with the
detachment under Major Jackson, who had arrived during the
previous night on a reconnaissance towards the river, but we
found no trace of the insurgents. On the 4th I rejoined
Colonel Paton’s camp and on the 5th of October his force
returned to Googaira.

21. A considerable body of Wuttoos had re-assembled
opposite to the Maree ferry. It was therefore determined
to cross over a detachment and, if possible, to attack and
disperse them. A small party of the Lahore Light Horse
under Captain Balmain and some Infantry under the Assis-
tant Commissioner, Lieutenant Millar, were sent on the
6th of October to the ferry to protect some new boats that
had arrived there in the meantime, and early on the morning
of the 7th Colonel Paton with a strong detachment of
Infantry, including the European company, proceeded to the
ghauts. On arrival there it was unfortunately discovered to
be necessary to cook a warm breakfast of meat, &ec., for the
Europeans, and much valuable time was thus lost. We
procecded as far as Pindee Sheikh Moosa without seeing the
enemy, and as the Commanding Officer was of opinion that
the safety of his force depended on our immediate return,
we retraced our steps after resting about a quarter of
an hour.

Assemblage
of Wattus
opposite
Gugera,

Despatch of a
force against

the insurgents
and their dis-
appearance,

Re-assembling
of Wattus
opposite the
Maree ferry.

Despatel of a
force against
them and its
return withe
out seeing

the enemy,



Intention to
attack the
insurgents
at Jalli.

Despatch of &
force under
Captain Snow
to co-operate
from the left
bank of the
river,

Failure of
Major Cham-
berlain to
attack rebels,

Attack Ly
rebels on a
picket under
Captain
McAndrew
and their re-
pulse,

MUTINY REPORTS. [ Cuae.

54

22. Information in the meantime had been received
from Major Chamberlain that he had crossed the Ravee
near Hurruppa and was about to attack the insurgents at
Jullee on the right bank of the river. The relief of Kumalia
by a detachment from Jhung and the subsequent retreat of
that detachment has no doubt been reported to you in ample
detail. T therefore refrain from any further allusion to this
subject. The Wyneewals and Bugghelabs, after aiding the
Katheahs in thoroughly plundering and sacking the city of
Kumalia, had joined the Futtyanahs, Moordanahs, &c., and
retired with them into the Jullee jungles, a place renowned as
having successfully withstood the attack of the Sikhs in
former insurrections. Major Chamberlain determined to attack
them in this position on the 9th of October and requested
Colonel Paton to co-operate with him from the left bank of
the river. We accordingly marched on the morning of the Sth
to Koure Shah, the Europeans and guns having been left this
time at Googaira to protect the station. Coloncl Paton being
laid up with fever, the command of the detachment devolved
on Captain Snow, and early on the morning of the 9th we
advanced towards Jullee vid Kootoobshurrah and Dowlah.
The rebels were collected in some strength on the opposite
bank of the river, but we waited in vain for the promised
attack from Major Chamberlain. The insurgents at first
exposed themselves very freely, but a few well-directed rifle
shots from some of the officers who accompanied the force
soon caused them to take shelter in the jungle. Information
having been received that the insurgents had moored some
boats lower down the river, a detachment under Captain
McAndrew was sent in that direction to take possession of
them, but the jungle was found to be so dense that they
returned after advancing for about half a mile, and a party
of them were posted by Captain McAndrew on the other
side of a nullah about four hundred yards from the remainder
of the force. The day was far advanced, and we began to
give up all hope of an attack from Major Chamberlain when
our attention was attracted by firing from the picket at the
nullah., We immediately advanced with the Infantry in that
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direction and attacked a body of insurgents who had advanced
under cover of the nullah and surrounded the picket. They
were soon beaten off, but the dense jungle rendered all
pursuit impossible. I understand that they lost about 20
men on this occasion, but they contrived to surprise and kill
four of our horsemen and five of the Infantry belonging to
the picket. As it was near sunset and Major Chamberlain’s
attack had evidently not taken place, we returned to Mohum-
udpoor with about 700 head of cattle which the insurgents
had abandoned on our approach. The experience gained in
this little expedition was very valuable. It was obvious
that an attack on Jullee from the left bank in combination
with Major Chamberlain’s force would be of great importance,
but in order to accomplish this it would be necessary to seize
the boats moored by the insurgents on the opposite bank.
We had, however, discovered that it would be impossible
to protect a passage of troops with musketry, and the road
from Mohumudpoor was found practicable for Artillery.
Captain Snow’s application for two guns from Googaira
was, however, not approved of by Colonel Paton, and we
returned to his camp at Kowre Shah on the 10th of October.

28. On the 11th you joined the detachment yourself, and
on the 12th we returned to Mohumudpoor. On the 13th we
marched to Bowunnee, and Major Marsden there joined the
camp and informed me that he had come to take charge of
the district.

94, The Khurrals in the meantime had submitted and
the Wuttoos had returred to their villages, but the tribes
assembled at Jullee and the Katheeahs, who after their defeat
near Hurruppa had retired towards Jamlera, were still in arms.
A slight demonstration made by the Begke Khurrals at
Mooharrunwallah was put down by the approach of a de-
tachment from Lahore under the Commissioner, Mr. Roberts,
The reports submitted by Captain Tronson will have supplied
you with detailed information regarding the operations against
the insurgents in the Pak Puttun Tehseel. It would therefore
be unnecessary for me to attempt to describe them here, In
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conclusion, I have only to add my acknowledgments to you for

the kind support and encouragement you have invariably

extended to me since the commencement of the mutinies.
Excrostre (+) o 46.

50. From Major F. C. Marspes, Deputy Commissioner, Goo-
gaira, to the Commissioner and Superintendent, Mooltan
Division,—No. y dated Cump Kuwmalia, Ist Febru-
ary 1858.

Ix obedience to your request I have the honor to forward

a narrative of events which fell under my immediate obser-
vation during the late disturbances in this district.

I have not entered into the action or motives of others
concerned more than I eould avoid, as I do not consider it falls
under my province.

It may not be superfluous to add that I formerly held
charge of the district for some years immediately after
annexation and became intimately acquainted with the habits
and mode of thought of these nomad tribes which have risen
in insurrection ; so that I entered on my duties with consider-
able confidence, and never for a moment doubted that they
would be speedily overcome. The result has shown my
expectations to have been well founded.  The Chiefs are
humbled to the dust; they have restored the property they
plundered in great part, and are hastily bringing in the
remainder. They sorely repent of their madness and are now
supplicants for mercy to the Government they have offended.

Excrostre 10 50,

51. From Major F. C. MarspeN, Deputy Commissioner, (fvo-
guira, to Major Q. W. H.aurcroy, Commissioner and
Superintendent, Mooltan Division,~No. ————, dated
Cump Kumalia, 31st Junuury 1858,

Ox the 9th October I received orders from the Chief
Commissioner to proceed to the Googaira distriet, of which I
had for some years been in charge after annexation, to assist
Major Hamilton, Commissioner of the Division, in quelling
an insurrcction of the pastoral tribes of Khattyas, Khurruls,
Futtecanahs, and others, who inhabit the banks of the Ravee
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and the jungle tract which stretches from that river to the
Sutlej. ,

2. On the 10th I reached Googaira, which I found had
been attacked by the powerful clan of Khurruls under their
old Chief Ahmad Khan, a wealthy, determined old patriarch,

who had paid for his temerity with his head and whose clan-

had tendered their submission.

8. The sudder station of Googaira was occupied by
European troops and Artillery.

4. Mr. Roberts, Commissioner, Lahore Division, entered
the district about the same time as myself with some troops
from the Boochooki, or north-west side, to march up the right
bank of the river.

5. Major Chamberlain was encamped at Killianwalla
with a detail of Artillery, Cavalry and Infantry, whilst a
force under Captain Snow occupied a position on the left, or
opposite bank of the river. ‘

6. Between Killianwalla and a village called ¢ Mal
Futteeanah,”” about three miles from Major Chamberlain’s
camp and six from the village, the insurgents had taken up
a strong position in a jungle fastness known by the name of
“ Jhullee.”” In their front was the Ravee, running between
high banks, covered with tall thick grass jungle to the water’s
edge. They were surrounded by jungle on every side, which
was further strengthened by a long sheet of water and swamp,
stretching for a considerable distance along their rear.

7. On the 14th Captain Snow marched with his detach-
ment to Bowany, with Major Hamilton in camp, where I also
joined them, reaching the ground about the same time as they
did. .

8. I offered my services to Captain Snow to reconnoitre
the ground ; he was kind enough to lend me a horse, and place
a small party of the Lahore Light Horse and an European
Sergeant at my disposal for that duty. :

9. The ground was found to be very unfavorable for the
passage of the Ravee, the intermediate space between the

8
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camp and the river being intersected by a deep nulla, a
swamp and a belt of heavy grass jungle. This was reported
to Major Hamilton and Captain Snow, who immediately
determined to march the following day to Jhullee Futteeanah.

10. Major Snow surrounded the camp with bushes, posted
pickets, and made everything snug for the night. It was well
he did so, for just before dawn the insurgents attacked the
north-west picket in some force ; they were beaten off with loss.

11. On the following day, the 15th, he marched to
Jhullee Futteeanah and pitched about a mile from the Ravee.

12, On the 16th Major Hamilton determined to
attempt the seizure of the boats at Jhullee. A passage was
* 20 Cavalry—Cap- cut through some miles of jungle and a
*“;‘aos i‘,‘j}:nt,y_mjo, detachment of troops* marched to a spot
Msa;:feﬂi} rogularhorses  O1 thfa Ravee immediately opposite where
men. the insurgents had moored the boats,

Major Hamilton directing the movements.

Information had been received that, although most of the
boats had been sunk on the opposite bank, the insurgents
were in the practice of using two of the boats for crossing
the river. This was found to be the fact, and a well-trodden
landing place was discovered on the left bank of the river.

13. It was found that five boats were drawn up under
the high banks, on the opposite side of the river, and protected
by matchlockmen completely under cover; on the right of
the boats was a small open space, from which jungle had been
cleared, the jungle on both sides of which was occupied by
the insurgents. '

14, Some Machees who had been sent across to fetch the
boats were speedily driven back, when Oodet Singh, a Police
Jamadar (a Poorbeea), stripped and volunteered for the duty, but
the fire became so heavy that he was not allowed to make the
attempt. It was found that our muskets could not keep down
the matchlock fire, and thus whilst their longer range enabled
them to do us considerable damage they were in perfect safety.
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15. Whether we inflicted any loss on the enemy or not

Captain Snow shot through the leg. could not be ascertained as
Duffadar shot through the knee.
2 Secpoys wounded by matchlock balls. the Ravee was between us.

Major Marsden’s horse shot through Qur casualties are noted in
the flank.

1 Horse killed. the margin.

16. On 17th Major Hamilton sent for guns to Googaira,
constructed a raft on ghurras and exerted himself to prepare
for another attack.

17. During the whole of this time the ““dholes *’ kept up
a continual beating from the opposite side of the Ravee, and
reports were frequent that the insurgents intended an attack
on either our camp or that of Major Chamberlain.

18, On the 18th we heard three guns from the
direction of Major Chamberlain’s camp, and concluded he had
been attacked, but it was not so.

19. Syud Rahmut Ally, brother of the Hoojrah Peer,
now Kotwal of Ferozepoor, informed me, on the authority of
a Mirasee, that Bahawal, Julla, Nourung and other influential
Chiefs were desirous of coming in, but feared being put to
death. He also added that they had 600 stand of firearms,
besides swords, spears, &c. This information was also repeat-
ed by Oodet Singh and Dara Singh, but probably emanated
from the same source.

20. On 21st two Horse Artillery guns under Captain
* 2 Horse Artillery Delaine arrived, and on the 22nd the

200 Infantry. detail per margin* was under arms at day-

About 12 Irregular light, Major Hamilton determined on
Horse.

Major Marsden. at once renewing the attack.t As there
‘aptain McAndrew. .
%fut%hi‘;ﬁ;é? was some expectation of a counter-attack

Lieutenant Norgate. during the absence of the
Licutenant Grabam. on our camp, 5

+ Intimation of this t¥00Ps, by the insurgents who crossed the
intended movement was river with facility at any point on bundles
sent to Major Chamber- . . .
lain to allow of hisco- of grass, Major Hamilton determined
operating. that either he or I should remain in

camp, giving me my choice of duties,

Our casuale
ties.

Application
to Gugera for
guas.

Arrival of
guns and des-
patch of a
force to
operate
against the
insurgents.



Success of
operations.

Casualties of
enemy,

Despatch of

a force across
the Ravi and
its return
without seeing
the enemy.

Determina-
tion of Major
Hamilton to
follow the in.
surgents
across the

({1 B‘r. »

60 MUTINY REPORTS. [ Caar.

91. The force soon reached the ghat where the boats
were. The fire from the opposite side was kept down with
grape and round shot. 50 men were pushed across the Ravee,
*Lieutenant Mitche, 8 80d 10 at a time, on the raft, with

Major Marsden. three officers,* drove the enemy out of the
Captain Chichester. .
jungle, and brought away three boats.
The boats were all found to have been scuttled and aground,
partly filled with mud, water, and brushwood, and could only
be moved with great labour and difficulty. Evening began
to close in, and it was necessary to reach camp before dark.
A village opposite to Mal Futteeanah Ghat, which had
continually fired on our vedettes was burnt and the force
reached its ground by dark.

22. The number of casualtics were never accurately
Julla, Tirana ascertained, but I believe the

g?geﬂ, g;:ttg: These are list per margin will be found

g . all men
lh\;.;u:nngaé_ 1“)‘1?0. of s tolerably correct, except that,
Sixth ason of ditto, | Pote  perhaps, some of the six named
Iﬁ: 4 12 o 13 men may have fallen in the subsequent
Moorad, dangerous- engagement at Choorur Tezi ka.
ly wounded Ditto,

23. On 23rd Major Hamilton sent a party of Infantry
Major Marsden, and a few horse across the Ravee at
i?f’é?éﬁaffﬁ?‘l{f;;’n Malce Nuthooke, which marched through
Ensiga Crally. *  Jhullee in its whole length without find-

» Hammond.  jno g gingle insurgent, visited Major
Chamberlain’s camp, who was absent in pursuit with some
Cavalry, and passing through the deserted camp of the

insurgents returned to Mal Futteecanah.

24. On 24th Major Hamilton determined to follow the
insurgents across the Bar, as they were reported to have gone
with the intention of joining their friends in the Jumlaira
and Sahoke Koonds on the Sutlej.

25, Licutenant Elphinstone was sent to remain as Civil
Officer with Major Chamberlain’s camp, and the whole
detachment marched to Hurruppa on 24th, Kumbeer 25th,
Jevun 26th, and Shaikoopoora 27th,
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A night attack was here threatened by the insurgents,
and on the 28th the force marched out as far as Russoolpoor,
a ruined fort, passing several places shewing unmistakeable
signs of recent encampments and returning to its original
ground without seeing an insurgent.

26. Major Hamilton thought it necessary that a Civil
Officer should be with Major Jackson’s force, which had
advanced at his instigation to Kaboola; so leaving me in
charge with Captain McAndrew he joined Major Jackson
the same day.

27. The force* in camp was ample. I received good

o2 H. A. guns,—Captain Delaize. information that the
6 Soobadars enemy were in the

4 Jemadars . .
17 Hayildars La;‘g{;:gg:l‘;:ur E' d Bar which we had
2§} g:;f,‘v‘: < *g recently crossed, and
4 Havildars 4='g
4 Naicks }Soomj Mookhee, i £,8 I knew th‘f’e were
42 giggaa ] .g B8 only certain spots
2 Jamadars S‘Es in which a large
Havilda khee.

% Nocks Kuttar Moo nomad camp, encum-
92 Sepoys : :
Some Lahore Light Horse,—Captain Balmain ; berefl_ with  their

Lieutenant Graham. families and nu-

Moostapha Khan’s Horse,—Moostapha Khan.

+¢Choas” are hollows or pools, so called in the
Vernacular, in which rain water collects and re-
mains till an advanced period of the season.

merous herds of
cattle, could exist.
I was therefore cer-
tain they must either be at a Jhoke, dependent on . the small
Jhoke well, or at one of the * Rehnas’’ or ¢ Choas, ’’+ where
they could also obtain a supply of water ; it was also evident
that any of these places could equally supply the force.
I also knew that these tribes almost possess the power
of ubiquity. They assemble and scatter in an incredible
short space of time and, anomalous as it may appear, the
very people they plunder will afford them aid and shelter.
Suddenness of movement therefore was the only chance
of success. The camp moved off at half an hour before
daylight from Shaikoopoor, passed the ruined fort of Rus-
soolpoor, and made a short halt at Oomurpoor, an old ruined
fort in the jungle, which, though deserted, has the advantage
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of a good well; here the intellicence was varied and uncer-
tain. Baza Thirana, Hassanwalla Rchna and other places
were mentioned as their probable encampment. Whilst the
troops were resting I galloped a few imiles into the jungle
to reconnoitre, and distinctly heard the dkole, which at once
decided our movements. We marched on Hassanwalla®
Rehna; here some shepherds with their

® A small pool of
flocks were seized, and on the promisc

muddy  water, but
eagerly drunk by all
hands, some of the

of reward and impunity conducted us
horses rushing into it.

faithfully to the insurgents’ camp at
Choorur Tezi Ka. The surprise was complete ; we attacked
at once with grape, round shot and musketry. T